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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of KNK Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
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7 Shing Yip Street

Kwun Tong

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111 Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
United Overseas Bank Limited

STOCK CODE
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WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

www.knk.com.hk
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR STATEMENT
HITESHRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of the
Company, | am delighted to present to you the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2021 (“Year”).

REVIEW

The Group was successfully listed on GEM on 12 December 2016. The
proceeds raised have strengthened the cash position of the Group with
the aim of recruiting additional professional staff to provide services to
both existing and new customers.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded an increase in
revenue of approximately HK$11.4 milion or 38.3% to approximately
HK$41.2 million compared with the previous financial year. Such increase
was mainly attributable to the revenue contribution from a project with
a relatively large contract sum. At the same time, the Group incurred a
gross profit margin of approximately 7.9% in the Year compared with a
gross loss margin of approximately 19.2% last year.

The Group recognised a loss of approximately HK$13.1 million for the
year ended 31 March 2021 compared with a loss of approximately
HK$34.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The reduction of loss
was mainly attributable to the absence of () a one-off write-off of loan
receivables; and (i) an extra direct cost on a project duing the Year, which
were incurred in the same period last year.

The responsible Director and senior management are aware of the
regulatory reporting and compliance requirements in the architectural
industry, and will continue to keep abreast of their development in
additional to change of general business environment.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR STATEMENT
HITESHRS

OUTLOOK

Going forward, the Group will continue to focus on our existing
businesses and look for opportunities to expand the services in the
architectural industry based on the assumption that we can recruit
enough competent professional staff to join us and maintain our
reputation in the industry in order to maximise returns to our shareholders
in the long run.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to the Group’s shareholders, bankers, customers and
business partners for their continuous support, and to our management
and staff members for their diligence, dedication and contribution to the
growth of the Group.

Chung Yuk Lun
Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEES AT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services in Hong
Kong. During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has
focused on developing business opportunities with existing customers as
well as working on those referrals from them; at the same time, the Group
plans to expand the types of architectural-related services.

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately HK$11.4 million or
38.3% to HK$41.2 million; and the loss for the Year was approximately
HK$13.1 million, a HK$21.2 million decrease as compared with the loss
incurred for the year ended 31 March 2020. The reasons of such changes
can be found under the Financial Review section below.

Going forward, while actively exploring new businesses opportunities,
the Group also plans to extend its business reach and expand service
coverage to lay a foundation for our long term development. These
strategic directions aim to capture new business opportunities in the
market and contribute satisfactory long-term returns to our shareholders.
Such achievements depend on whether we can attract competent
professionals to join the Group.

But under the current political and economic environment, in particular
the impact of COVID-19 is still uncertain, the Group will seek to minimise
risk exposure by bargaining better terms from sub-contractors, minimising
expenses, securing projects and closely monitoring recoverability of the
receivables to keep the operations of the Group as usual.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue is generated from the contract revenue from
provision of comprehensive architectural and structural engineering
consultancy services in Hong Kong, including licensing consultancy,
alteration and addition works and minor works consultancy, inspection
and certification and other architectural related consultancy.

The Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
approximately HK$41.2 million (2020: approximately HK$29.8 million),
representing approximately HK$11.4 million or 38.3% increase compared
to the corresponding period in 2020. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the revenue contribution from a project with a relatively
large contract sum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERE D

The gross profit margin was approximately 7.9% (2020: gross loss margin
was approximately 19.2%).

The gross loss in 2020 was mainly due to some repair and maintenance
expenses incurred in a particular project of approximately $6.6 million
while the revenue was recognised fully in previous years.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s total general and administrative expenses for the year ended
31 March 2021 was approximately HK$14.6 million (2020: approximately
HK$13.6 million), representing an increase of approximately HK$1 million
or 7.4% when compared to the corresponding period in 2020. Such
increase was mainly due to increase in the listing compliance fee.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$13.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$34.3 million). The reduction of loss was mainly attributable to the
absence of (i) a one-off write-off of loan receivables; and (i) an extra direct
cost on a project during the Year, which were incurred in the same period
last year.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group financed its operations
by cash balances accumulated in previous years. As at 31 March 2021,
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$7.2 million (2020
net current assets: approximately HK$2.7 million), including cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$2.6 million (2020: approximately
HK$11.1 milion). The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, was approximately 0.5 times as at 31 March 2021
(2020: approximately 1.1 times). The decrease in current ratio mainly due
to decrease in bank balances and cash. The gearing ratio being total
debts over the equity is not applicable the Year as the equity became
negative as a result of the accumulated losses for the past two years
(2020: 1.44).

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. Total equity
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$2.2 million deficit as at 31 March 2021 as a result of the accumulated
losses for the past two years (2020: approximately HK$11 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEmED

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

Total staff and Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2021 was approximately HK$18.9 million (2020: approximately
HK$21.8 million). Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
directors’ remunerations by approximately HK$2.3 million. The Group'’s
remuneration policies are formulated on the basis of performance,
qualifications and experience of individual employee and make reference
to the prevailing market conditions. Our remuneration packages comprise
monthly fixed salaries and discretionary year-end bonuses based on
individual performance, which are paid to employees as recognition of,
and reward for, their contributions.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge arranged with any financial institution
in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The revenue and business costs of the Group were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and as such the exposure to the risk
of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the Group was minimal. Hence,
no financial instrument for hedging was employed.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liability had come to the attention of the Directors
in the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 32, up to the date of this report, there was no
significant event relevant to the business or financial performance of the
Group that comes to the attention of the Directors after the year ended 31
March 2021.

USE OF PROCEEDS

With reference to the prospectus of the Company dated 30 November
2016 in relation to the listing of shares by the Company on the GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way of placing; the annual
reports of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 and for the
year ended 31 March 2020; and the announcement of the Company
dated 11 August 2020. The Company had unutilised net proceeds of
approximately HK$10.4 million (“Unutilised Net Proceeds”) which the
Board had resolved to change the use to general working capital of the
Group. The Unutilised Net Proceeds has been fully utilised during the Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERAHRS

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased
to present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31 March
2021. This report highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and enhance
its corporate value. The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code under Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG
Code”).

The Company had complied throughout the Year with all the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code except with the following deviation:—

(1) Code provision A.2.1

The Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. No chairman nor chief executive are appointed by the
Company.

All executive Directors, being Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe, Mr. Chung
Yuk Lun and Ms. Sin Pui Ying (who resigned on 8 January 2021)
provide the Board with strong and consistent leadership to ensure
that the Board works effectively and acts in the interest of the
Company. At the same time, they are responsible for formulation of
corporate strategy and business development. The daily operation
and management of the Company is monitored by the executive
Directors as well as the senior management. All Directors (including
the independent non-executive Directors), being experienced
individuals, are encouraged to make active contributions to the
Board’s affairs and promoting a culture of openness and debate.
Based on the above, the Board is of the view that although no
chairman nor chief executive are appointed, the balance of power
and authority of the Board is ensured and believes the current
structure (with proper delegation authorities to the management
and effective supervision by the Board and its committees)
functions effectively and that no change to current structure is
required.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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(3)

XERRS

Code provision C.2.5

Code provision C.2.5 stipulates that a listed company should have
an internal audit function. In the past, the Company has outsourced
the internal audit function on analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of its risk management and internal
control systems to independent professional firm(s).

For the Year, the Audit Committee has performed such function
itself by carrying out walk through tests on the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems with reference to the
policy and procedures manuals of the Company, interviewed and
discussed with the management on their effectiveness and followed
up on the rectifications of any findings from their work. The Board
considers that compliance with Code provision C.2.5 has been
fulfilled by the Audit Committee for the Year.

Code provision E.1.3

The Code requires that notice for annual general meetings should
be sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the
meeting. Last annual general meeting of the Company was held on
30 September 2020 and the notice of the meeting was sent on 3
September 2020. Insufficient notice was given to the shareholders
in this regard. The Company will ensure proper compliance of this
CG Code in future.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set out
in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors (“Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all of them confirmed
they had complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERAHRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Details of their
composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (@ppointed on 28 December 2020)
Ms. Sin Pui Ying (resigned on 8 January 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Pui Chung

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy

Ms. Chan Yuk Chun (appointed on 2 November 2020)

Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Victor (resigned on 2 November 2020)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” in this report.

The updated list of Directors and their role and function are published
at the GEM website (www.hkgem.com) and the Company’s website
(www.knk.com.hk).

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against the Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in order to enhance
the quality of Board’s performance and to achieve sustainable and
balanced development of the Group.

Policy Statement

The Company believes that a balanced and diversified board composition
can provide different and relevant perspectives and insights that facilitates
the Board to discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively.

The Company sets out a range of factors and aspects in considering,
determining and assessing the Board diversity, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time.
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Measurable Objective

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board, including the consideration of increasing
the proportion of female members over time. The Board will also consider
having an appropriate proportion of directors with direct experience of
the Group’s business, with different ethnic, professional and industry
backgrounds.

Review, Monitoring and Disclosure

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy and monitoring the related implementation and progress
made towards achieving the measurable objectives from time to time.

Our Board Diversity Policy is also published on the Company’s website.

As of 31 March 2021, our Board has achieved a female-to-male gender
ratio of 40:60 and our Directors have collaborated different skills and
experiences individually and collectively, including but not limited to
direct architectural and engineering industry experience and qualification,
financial and accounting, legal and business administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board, and with at least
one of them possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The independent
non-executive Directors, together with the executive Directors, ensure
that the Board prepares its financial and other mandatory reports in strict
compliance with the relevant standards. The Company has received an
annual confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors and believes that their independence satisfies the
criteria set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Board

The Board has the responsibility for leadership and control of the Group.
The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board
is accountable to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for
the strategic development of the Group with the goal of maximizing long-
term Shareholders’ interest, while balancing broader stakeholder interests.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company who meet on a
regular basis to review the financial results and performance of the Group
and make financial and operational decisions for the implementation
of strategies and plans approved by the Board. The Board also
communicates with the Shareholders and regulatory bodies and makes
recommendations to the Shareholders on issues relating to interim and
final dividends.

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board meets in person or through electronic means of
communication to determine overall strategic direction and objectives
and approve quarterly, interim and annual results, and other significant
matters. The Board held 5 meetings during the year ended 31 March
2021.

The Board meets regularly on a quarterly basis. Notice of at least 14
days is given to all Directors for a regular Board meeting. Apart from
the regular Board meetings, the Board also meets on other occasions
when a Board-level decision on a particular matter is required. For such,
reasonable notice is given. All Directors have full and timely access to all
relevant information as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company (‘Company Secretary”), senior management
and compliance officer of the Company who are responsible for ensuring
the compliance of the Company with the GEM Listing Rules and advising
the Board on compliance matters. Directors are also provided with access
to independent professional advice, where necessary, in carrying out
their obligations as Directors of the Company. Any Directors and their
associates who are considered to have conflict of interests or material
interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed in the
Board meetings shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and
are not to be counted in the quorum at meetings.
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At least 3 days (or such other period as agreed in advance) before each
Board meeting, draft agenda is sent to all Directors in order to allow
the Directors to include any other matters in the agenda for discussion
and approval at the meeting. To enable the Directors to make informed
decisions, Board papers together with all appropriate and relevant
information in relation to the matters of the meeting are sent to all
Directors 3 days or such other period as agreed before each Board
meeting such that the Directors have sufficient time to review the related
documents and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final versions are open for Directors’ inspection.

Relationships between the Board

Except that Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe, an Executive Director, and Ms. Chan
Ka Yee, a former Executive Director, are in spousal relationship, there are
no other financial, business, family or other material relationship among
the Directors. The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out
in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” of
this annual report.

Directors’ Continuing Professional Development
Programme

Each Director receives comprehensive and formal induction and
orientation to ensure he/she adequately understand the operations and
business of the Group. The Company also provided detailed director’s
responsibilities and obligations statement pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules for the Director to review and study. In addition, materials in relation
to regularly update on latest development in relation to the GEM Listing
Rules, other applicable regulatory requirements and the Group’s business
and governance policies (the “Reading Materials”) were circulated to
the Directors. Continuing briefings and seminars for the directors will
be arranged as necessary. The Directors are encouraged to participate
in continuous professional developments to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills periodically.
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During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors participated in the
continuous professional developments in the following manner:

BE_FE_—FZA=+—HLEE - BFL
T AR RFEREERETE

Attending
seminars/
Reading courses/
Name Materials  conferences
HEERXE,
4 REM R FE g3
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe BEE A v v
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun (@ppointed on 28 December 2020) BB BidE (* —&F _&E4F v v
+F A=+ NHEZE)
Ms. Sin Pui Ying (resigned on 8 January 2021) AREZL (K ZEZ—4F v v
—A/\ HF#E)
Independent non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr. Lee Pui Chung FhERSRE v v
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZZ+ v v
Ms. Chan Yuk Chun (appointed on 2 November 2020) HER L+ (R —E_ZF4F v v
+—AZHEZF)
Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Victor (fesigned on 2 November 2020) TR{FIAKLE (IR - & —F4F v v
+—HAZHEHE)
APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF EENREREE

DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company (“Articles”),
at each general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being and
any Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or appointed
as an addition to the Board should be subject to election by shareholders
at the following general meeting after his appointment (or if their number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include any
Director who wishes to retire and not offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee in order to maintain high
standard of corporate governance within the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rules 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and code
provision C.3.3 and C.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by
Mr. Lee Pui Chung. The other members are Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy and
Ms. Chan Yuk Chun.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external
auditors; review the financial statements of the Company and areas
involving judgements in respect of financial reporting; and oversee
financial reporting system, internal control procedures, risk management
system and continuing connected transactions of the Company. All
members of the Audit Committee are appointed by the Board.

The Audit Committee has met its responsibilities to review the Group’s
quarterly reports, interim report and audited annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and provided advice and comments thereon.
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A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year is
set out as follows:

(i) recommended to the Board on the change of auditor;

(i) oversight of risk management and internal control systems,
assessment on any potential special risks to be encountered by the
Company and review on the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system;

(i) reviewed with the external auditor on the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting principles and practices, the accuracy
and fairness of the annual consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2021; and

(iv)  reviewed the first quarterly, interim and third quarterly results of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year ended 31 March
2021.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established with written terms
of reference in compliance with code provision A.5.2 of the CG Code.
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Ms. Chan Yuk Chun. The other
members are Mr. Chung Yuk Lun and Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. All members of the
Nomination Committee are appointed by the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Nomination Committee
reviewed and discussed the structure, size and composition of the Board;
made recommendation on the appointment of new Directors and re-
election of the retiring Directors; and confirmed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee held 2
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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NOMINATION POLICY AND PROCEDURES

The Board has adopted a Nomination Policy that sets out the principles,
criteria and procedures for selecting, assessing, and/or recommending
Board candidates. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
evaluating a series of key factors, including but not limited to the following
criteria, in the process of selecting, assessing, and/or recommending
Board candidates.

(i) Skill, experience, qualifications and achievements that are relevant
and appropriate for the business operations of the Group;

(i) Commitments and independence;
(i)  Reputation and integrity;
(iv)  The Board Diversity Policy (as mentioned above); and

(v)  any other relevant and material factors as may be considered by the
Nomination Committee.

The Board has also established nomination procedures summarized as
follows:

(@) Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee must evaluate the proposed candidate
based on the selection criteria mentioned above and make
recommendations to the Board regarding whether the proposed
candidates are fit and proper for the directorship appointment.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at the general meeting according to the Articles of
the Company.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution, participation and performance of the retiring
Director and the Board should then make recommendation to the
Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of Director at
the general meeting.
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The Company will send out a circular to shareholders providing
information of the candidates nominated by the Board to stand for
election at a general meeting. The information provided includes
but not limited to the names, brief biographies, independence,
proposed remuneration and any other material information of the
proposed candidates.

(c) Proposal by Shareholders

For candidates proposed by shareholders who serve a notice to
the Company Secretary, the Nomination Committee should also
evaluate such candidates in accordance to the same selection
criteria and make recommendation to the Board. The Company
will send a supplementary circular to shareholders providing the
particulars of the proposed candidates.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established with written terms of
reference in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy. The other
members are Mr. Chung Yuk Lun and Ms. Chan Yuk Chun.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of our Group;
review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none of the
Directors determine their own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration package
of Directors and senior management of the Group and assessed the
performance of executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee held 2
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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EFgRLFERDER
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Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of the Board
and its respective committees during the year ended 31 March 2021 are

as follows:
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BRZEE R2ZEE wHEEE
LR 5882 g k] gz BRAE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe BRIBEE 5/5 - - - il
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun féﬁ}ﬁﬁ'%i
(appointed on 28 December 2020) HR_E_ZF
TZAZ+/NA
EBZEF) il - N/A FEH N/A & N/A R
Ms. Sin Pui Ying HmE ili
(resigned on 8 January 2021) [
—A/\HE#E) 3/4 - - - on
Independent non-executive Directors B JFHITES
Mr. Lee Pui Chung FMERE 5/5 4/4 11 2/2 il
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZ 4T 5/5 4/4 2/2 il 0/1
Ms. Chan Yuk Chun @EiAﬁt
(appointed on 2 November 2020) K _E_ZfF
F—AZHEZE) 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1 NA RBA
Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Victor BREASE
(resigned on 2 November 2020) (R_E_FfF
+—A_HFHL) 11 2/2 N/A FER N/A R i

2020/2021 F 3 PEISRERERARAE 21



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERAHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties in accordance with code provision D.3.1 to the CG Code which
included to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of the
Company, the issuer’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and to review the issuer’'s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Pursuant to the Deed of Non-competition entered into among Mr. Poon
Kai Kit, Joe (“Mr. Poon”), Ms. Chan Ka Yee (“Ms. Chan”) and Energetic
Way Limited (the “Energetic Way”). Mr. Poon, Ms. Chan and Energetic
Way have agreed to and undertaken with the Company (for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries) that for so long as the Deed of Non-competition
remains in effect, other than through the Group and subject as provided
below, he/it will not and will procure that none of his/its associates will,
engage or be interested, directly or indirectly, in any business which may
be in any aspect in competition with or similar to the businesses as may
from time to time be carried on by the Group in Hong Kong (other than,
in respect of Mr. Poon, Ms. Chan and Energetic Way, as a holder of not
more than 5% of the issued shares or stock of any class or debentures
of any company listed on any recognised stock exchange). Mr. Poon, Ms.
Chan and Energetic Way have further agreed to and undertaken with the
Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) that Mr. Poon, Ms.
Chan and Energetic Way will, jointly and severally, indemnify and keep
indemnified the Group against any damage, loss or liability suffered by the
Group arising out of or in connection with any breach of covenants and
undertakings and/or any of the obligations of Mr. Poon, Ms. Chan and
Energetic Way under the Deed of Non-competition, including any costs
and expenses incurred as a result of such breach.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Poon, Ms.
Chan and Energetic Way that each of Mr. Poon, Ms. Chan and Energetic
Way confirmed that other than their respective interests in our Group,
none of them is engaged in, or interested in any business which, directly
or indirectly, competes or may compete with the business of our Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors reviewed annually the
compliance with the non-competition undertaking of Mr. Poon, Ms. Chan
and Energetic Way under the Deed of Non-competition during the year
ended 31 March 2021.
the Company and the Independent Non-Executive Directors for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

No incident of non-compliance was noted by

AUDITOR AND THEIR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, remuneration paid and payable to
the auditor of the Group (the “Auditor”) are approximately HK$500,000
(2020: HK$500,000) for audit services. There was no significant non-audit
service provided by the auditor of the Group for the year.

Director’s Acknowledgement

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set
out in the section “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this report.
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Financial Reporting

The Management has provided to all Directors quarterly updates with
quarterly consolidated financial statement of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details during the regular Board
meetings. In addition, the Management has provided all members of
the Board, in a timely manner, updates on any material changes to the
performance, position and prospects of the Company and sufficient
information for matters brought before the Board. The Management will
spare no effort to provide all members of the Board with more detailed
and promptly monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the issuer’s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail in coming future.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Audit Committee has reviewed the internal control system (“Control
System”) for the year ended 31 March 2021. The review identified the
findings in internal control system of the Company, the risks associated
with operating units of the Company and the recommendations to rectify
the findings in internal control systems and to lower the risks identified.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Control Systems in
respect of financial, operational and compliance aspect annually and
considers that the Control Systems are adequate and effective.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has also reviewed the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and
consider that they are adequate.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the establishment and
maintenance of an adequate and effective Control System to safeguard
the Group’s assets against unauthorized use or disposition, and to protect
the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The Board believes
that the risk management and internal control system of the Group is
adequate and effective and will continue to assess, monitor and revise our
risk management and internal control system.
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Based on the risk identification and risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risks as follows:

Strategic Risks

Competitor landscape, risk of failure to meet customers’ expectation,
risk of over concentration of customer bases and risk of failure to
maintain a competitive edge in terms of industry innovation and process
improvement

The Group will continue to diversify its customer bases and maintain its
competitiveness by providing training on latest development in industry
innovation and operation.

Operational Risks

Insufficient trainings to employees, loss of business opportunity, risk
of information leakage, concentration of decision maker, decline in
experienced staff, risk of failure to complete work before deadline and
increase in operating costs.

The Group continues to provide competitive remuneration package to
maintain its professional team and looks for opportunity to recruit suitable
calibre to join the Group to capture more business opportunities.

Financial Risks

Liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk

The management will closely monitor the credit risk and liquidity risk
attributable to the Group’s major financial instruments should there be any
significant exposure arose in the future.

The Group conducts its business mainly in Hong Kong dollar and thus
does not have exposure to foreign currency risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk relates primarily to its interest-bearing other
borrowings subject to regulations on expiry/renewal date. The Group does
not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, the management will consider hedging significant interest rate
risk should the need arise.
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Compliance Risks

Risk of non-compliance of ordinances related to safety, health and
environment and risk of legal disputes.

The Group has a code of conduct in place for compliance with relevant
ordinances by its staff.

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation from the
management on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and the
Board, upon reviewing the said systems, were not aware of any significant
issues that would have an adverse impact on the effectiveness and
adequacy of the Group’s operational, financial and compliance areas of
the systems.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun joined the Group as the Executive Director and
the Company Secretary since 28 December 2020. The biographical
details of the Company Secretary are set out under the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” of this annual report. In
accordance with the Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rule, the Company
Secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting (the” EGM”) to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for the Shareholders to put their
enquiries to the board

The Company endeavors to maintain two way communications with the
Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders are encouraged
to send their enquiries about the Group by mail to the principle address
of the Company. All the enquiries are dealt with in a timely manner. The
Shareholders are also encouraged to attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM”) and EGM of the Company and to put their enquiries to the
Board directly. Notices are duly being circulated to the Shareholders in
order to ensure each Shareholder is informed to attend the AGM and the
EGM. The Chairman of the Board, chairmen of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit Committee and the senior
management attend the aforesaid meetings and respond proactively to
the Shareholders’ enquiries. The detailed procedures for conducting a poll
are set out in the notices of such meetings.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has established and its Directors are aware of the
procedures and internal controls for the defining, safeguarding, handling
and dissemination of inside information under the obligations and
requirement of Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) (the “SFO”)
Part XIVA. The key provisions include, but not limited to:

1. All Directors, senior management and relevant employees are
required to report potential inside information, upon identified, to
the Executive Directors and/or Company Secretary as an official
channel for informing all members of the Board;

2. The Executive Directors are required to assess whether the
attributes of the potential inside information and relevant impact on
the price of the Company’s securities;

3 All Directors, senior management and relevant employees are
required take reasonable due care for safeguard the confidentiality
of unpublished inside information;

4. All Directors, senior management and relevant employees are
constantly reminded not to deal in the Company’s securities when
they are in possession of unpublished inside information.
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5 All Directors are empowered and required to ensure timely, fair
and comprehensive dissemination of inside information, including
issuing announcements and/or requesting trading halt in situation of
unexpected and significant event.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is
a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public.

The Company strengthens its communications with shareholders and
investors through various channels including publication of interim
and annual reports, press releases and announcements regarding
the latest developments of the Company in its corporate website at
www.knk.com.hk in a timely manner.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company its Articles. During the year ended 31 March 2021, there had
not been any changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to the Company’s
Articles and relevant rules and regulations, including the relevant GEM
Listing Rules.

Our dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) is intended to set forth the
principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or

distribution of the Company’s profits as dividend to the Shareholders.

In determining a proposed dividend and dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

1. the general market conditions;
2. the financial performance of the Group;
3. the liquidity position of the Group;

4. the working capital requirements and future development plans of
the Group;
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5 the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company;

0. any commercial and/or contractual restrictions imposed on the
Group by relevant stakeholders;

7. the statutory and regulatory restrictions which the Group is subject
to; and

8. any other relevant factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

Subject to the Company’s Articles, the Board may decide dividends are to
be paid in cash, or wholly or partly in the form of allotment of shares, or by
issuance of bonus shares on a basis permitted by the applicable laws and
regulations.

The payment of dividend by the Company is subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles.

Final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at AGM and must not exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. The Board may not declare dividend
in consideration of various factors, such as reserving sufficient capital for
future development.

The Board may from time to time pay the Shareholders such interim and/
or special dividends as it considers to be justified by the profits and/or
assets level of the Group. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any specific period.

The Board will from time to time review the Dividend Policy and may
exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems fit and
necessary.

This Dividend Policy is published on the Company’s website for investors’
information.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

KNK Holdings Limited (“‘KNK” or the “Company” or “we”) is principally
engaged in the provision of architectural consultancy services in Hong
Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”) conduct its
primary businesses in our Hong Kong office which is subject to relatively
low energy, power and resources consumption. The Board of Directors
considers that the Group’s daily operation and business development in
general brings along insignificant direct environmental impact.

Nevertheless, the Group is dedicated in devoting our best efforts in
enhancing our environment and social responsibility and upholding
governance values.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report published by
KNK discloses our policies, measures, and performance of the Group
in respect of ESG issues. These disclosures enable our stakeholders to
have a better understanding of the Group’s progress and objectives of
sustainable development.

This Report is also uploaded to the website of the Company
(www.knk.com.hk).

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The Report focuses on the operation regarding the provision of
architectural consultancy services for the financial year ended 31 March
2021 (“the reporting period”). The Group will gradually fine tune and/
or expand the scope of disclosure based on our materiality assessment
and through continuous optimization of our internal information collection
procedures.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This Report complies with the requirements of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) published by the Stock
Exchange concerning the “comply or explain” principle.

The four reporting principles, which covers materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, set out in the Guide are taken as the basis for
preparing this Report.

A complete index is attached to the last section of the Report to enable
readers to understand this Report according to the Guide.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group highly values the opinions of stakeholders. Should you have
any enquiries or comments regarding the content or form of this Report,
please contact us at www.knk.com.hk.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The compilation of the ESG report represents the joint effort of the
employees from various departments that helps us identify potential risks
and opportunities closer to the satisfaction of stakeholders’ needs and
expectations, and properly manage opinions from different stakeholders.
Therefore, the Group attaches great importance to stakeholders’ opinions.
To communicate with the stakeholders effectively, we communicate with
different stakeholders through a wide range of channels.

To determine the strategies and directions for our sustainability, and to
identify environmental and social issues that are most essential to the
Group and the stakeholders, we have conducted interviews with and
internal assessment by our management and staff. Based on the result
of interviews and assessments, we consider that A2 — Use of Resource
is the most important and relevant aspect to KNK out of the eleven ESG
aspects from the Guide and accordingly has been selected as the key
focus of this Report.
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We believe that each year’s business performance, overall situation
of the industry and other factors will affect the experience of different
stakeholders, and thus their expectation and demands on different items.
We will continue to collect stakeholder’s feedbacks and disclose further
information based on the results in various assessments.

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

Our business and operation do not consume natural resources extensively
and does not generate hazardous waste.

The main emission of KNK is indirect greenhouse gas emissions from
purchased electricity and paper, while water consumption of KNK
come from drinking water in office. In this regard, the disclosure of our
environment aspects mainly focuses on energy consumption and use of

paper.

During the Year, we have followed and complied with applicable
environmental laws and regulations in all material respects. We are not
aware of any non-compliance incidents relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.

Resources Efficiency Management

The Group has taken various resource conversation measures to improve
its resource efficiency. Electricity consumption of our corporate office
in office lighting, air-conditioning, and the use of office equipment such
as printing machines and computers, is the major contribution to our
greenhouse gas emission and energy footprints. Concur to previous year,
KNK promotes conservative measures including:

o Maintaining indoor temperature at an optimal level of comfort

° Turning off idle lighting, air conditioning and electronic devices
before leaving office

We believe that through the above mitigation measures, it will keep the
use of energy and resources in the workplace minimal and finally help us
achieve the goal of reducing the greenhouse gas emission and protecting
our environment.
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Another resource consumption that we need to manage is paper usage.
We encourage our employees to:

° resort to electronic platforms for information dissemination
° reuse or use both sides of paper
° use personal drinking cups instead of disposable paper made cups

Waste Management

Our source of non-hazardous waste is the general waste from daily
office operation, which is mainly wastepaper. The Group has engaged
an independent cleaning contractor for handling and collecting the non-
hazardous waste. The related waste and recycle volume record is,
however, not provided to us by the cleaning contractor.

Environmental Performance

Based on the Group’s resource consumption in the Year, the Group'’s
GHG emissions are estimated with reference to the “Guidelines to
Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals
for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes in Hong
Kong)” issued by the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Department
and the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department, as detailed in the
table below:

KPEEEENE —EREEABHR - BRMAR
BES :

s FMEBFTRENESERE

s EREANCEALEM
o (EABHKIAR—RIEEMT

BEEYER
BINEEEEYRREARMAETEEEL
N—REREY TERBER AEEERE—%
BIUBZEROBURERNERSERY M
BRAC L ERRMIEHARMERYHE[DIIL
Eicike

IRIBRIR
ﬁ})‘éK%Eﬁ’:\KEFWE’JiéT‘}%%% NEER

REFRDIRIBEBIRIBRE %&*%#ﬁ%aﬁ
I&%ZF%E’J EAEREY EE-EETHA
R#&) BR E’ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂl&»ﬂ%ﬁ’]ﬁ%ﬁﬁ$—E¢?a
SIS BN TER:

Unit FY2020/2021 FY2019/2020 Intensity
k=l Y- 3 —hE/
—E—F —EZEF
Energy use and emissions AERERAKRBEKR B MR EE MEEE BE
Electricity AE kWh 37,998 44,132 1.48
FTRE
Greenhouse Gas Emission  EERAZHEM Tonnes of Coze 30.83 35.81 1.20
—@fbikEE
(ANE)
Unit FY2020/2021 FY2019/2020 Intensity
Use of resources HiRER BT,/ ZZE—h®E/S
BT —F ZEIEEF
B MEEE MEBEE BE
Paper A Kg 253.51 316.86 10.63
T
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Notes to the above two tables

1. Intensity is calculated by the total amount of consumption divided by revenue
from operation for Financial Year 2020/2021, approximately HK$41.2 million.

2. The GHG emissions mainly come from the purchased electricity under
Scope Il and paper consumption under Scope |Il.

3. Our production did not involve water. Water expense refers to drinking water
consumed in office premise, which is considered irrelevant to ESG issue, and
the quantity and monetary amount were immaterial.

Based on our assessment, we are not aware of any significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural resources.

SOCIETY ASPECT
B1/B4. Employment & Labour Standards

We owe much of our success to a team of dedicated and efficient
workforce.

We are committed to providing a desirable workplace and stable
career environment to our employees. This is incorporated into our staff
handbook. The staff handbook covers the Group’s standard in respect of
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods and other benefits and welfare.

The Group considers that the working environment and benefits offered
to the employees and dispatched workers have contributed to building
good staff relations and retention. We advocate for equality and diversity,
in that our remuneration, promotion and termination systems are designed
and decisions are made irrespective of gender, age, race, religion, political
affiliation, and national origin.
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During the Year, the Group has complied with all applicable laws and
regulations in relation to employment and labour standard. We are not
aware of any non-compliance incidents relating to:

° Employment Ordinance Cap. 57

o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance Cap. 485

o Minimum wage ordinance Cap. 608

We confirm that child and forced labour are strictly prohibited in our
businesses and operation.

Employee structure

As at the year ended 2021, we have 26 employees. In the Year, there
were 3 joiners and 2 leavers, who are from operation department.

By Gender
g dEI b

69%

©® Male HB1%
@ remale %

REEEN AEE-—BETAMERRS T
ZRNPIABRERER - HABENTEM
BRETIRAINTEREN -

. EE57ERIFEIEH
. F485F 3 H 1 ATE & 5T LA
. $608E R1& T & 1% 4|

B RANEBEREEREEREIR
BHIE T e

BEZRME
REBEZT-_—FILFE HfIA20%EE-IC
KEER > EERME=LWETABKMH
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By Function
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B2. Health and Safety

We understand that the maintenance of a healthy and safe working
environment and the operational efficiency of an enterprise are closely
related. We are committed to protecting our employee from potential
occupational hazards and health and safety risks.

We have strictly adhered to all applicable laws and regulations in relation
to health and safety, including, but not limited to, Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance cap 509a. Our key health and safety measures include
the following:

1. Properly designed workplace to prevent accidents;

2. Adequately lit and ventilated workplace;

3. lluminated ‘EXIT’ signs at all exits in our office building;
4, The means of escape in safe condition and free from obstruction;

(o} Provision of suitable and adequate fire safety measures;

6. Provision of adequate lavatory and washing facilities, as well as
adequate supply of drinking water.

There were no fatalities cases or major accidents/issues concerning the
health and safety of our employees.

As the COVID-19 pandemic swept across China and the globe during the
year, the most critical focus for every organization is to keep employees
safe in an environment where repeated outbreaks are a persistent threat.
To achieve this, the Group required employees to work from home during
the peak period and supplied hygiene products such as masks, sanitizers
and thermometers to employees in the office.
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B3. Staff Development and Training

The Group values the development of its employees. Each department
leader is responsible for determining the training needs for the employees
in his/her team. Training courses either arranged internally or by external
service providers are encouraged and arranged in the Year. The Group
strives to ensure that our employees are equipped to fulfill the relevant
job requirements in terms of education, training, technical and work
experience.

Welfares and Safeguards

A sustainable and stable workforce is a means of better facilitating the
work of every party, creating common values with the hope to deliver up-
to-standard quality service for a sustainable development and future.

To achieve the goal,
comprehensive welfares and safeguards for employees. The Company
implemented a compensation and benefits system to further provide
employees with competitive remuneration.

we also put a strong emphasis on assuring

We are eager to provide a harmonious working environment for our
employees. We offer various leisure and gathering events to lighten the
office atmosphere and strengthen the bond among employees.
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B5. Supply Chain Management
As a professional architectural consultancy service provider, our 1FRBEENBERAARBEER EEEBER
management has set up comprehensive and effective compliance Y ZHEKAMNEREFUEREAEEESR
procedures to ensure its full compliance in daily operation with all HEHETFIEBERZEZERFEERTE - PITESE
applicable laws and professional requirements. Our Executive Director BEEZSEBEXZUIAEFRIEMEESTZF

B5- ({EHEE I

oversees each of our engagement and the provision of back-to-back

support to our customers.
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B6. Quality Management & Service Liability

To ensure its overall operations are in line with all legal compliance
requirements, the management of the Group also disseminates
information on related changes by email or other means to update
employees on new developments. The Group reviews its internal and
external operations practices from time to time.

° Constant communication — Operational project managers work
closely with customers throughout each job engagement. We
constantly make changes to our design to meet customer needs.

° Routine reporting — Our project managers are required to report
project status to our Executive Director from time to time.

Handling of Sensitive Information

Throughout the course of our operation, we are not required to handle
advertising, labeling, and privacy matters of customers, suppliers, and
business partners. Apart from our service quality, KNK emphasises
confidentiality of personal data and privacy of our clients. We strictly
adhere to the provisions of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
and require our employees to keep secret with respect to confidential
information pertaining to its operations.

Customers’ feedbacks

The Group pays high attention to the quality of its services. The Group
has established relevant quality and safety inspection measures such
as communicating with our customers and confirming their project
expectation and direction prior to launching any project, and actively
coordinates projects with customers in the process of providing services.
In the Year, we do not have any material complaints.

During the Year, we have strictly complied with all the applicable laws
and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labeling and
privacy matters relating to services provided. There are no claims or
compensations or requests as such in relation to service liability. We have
taken every necessary step to prevent infringement of our own intellectual
property rights.
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B7. Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to upholding a high standard of business ethics
and to standards to prohibit bribery and corrupt practices. Anti-corruption
procedures are put into our practice and embedded in our employment
handbook to regulate employees in practising business ethics.

Particularly, we conduct our business or affairs in compliance with the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (POBO) of Hong Kong. The Group
prohibits:

a) soliciting or accepting any advantage from others as a reward for
or inducement to doing any act or showing favour in relation to the
Group’s business or affairs; or offering any advantage to an agent of
another as a reward for or inducement to doing any act or showing
favour in relation to his principal business or affairs;

b) offering any advantage to any public servant (incl. Government/
public body employee) as a reward for or inducement to his
performing any act in his official capacity or his showing any
favour or providing any assistance in business dealing with the
Government/a public body; or

) offering any advantage to any staff of a Government department or
public body while they are having business dealing with the latter.

During the Year, we strictly complied with all the applicable laws and
regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. An
example is the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong.

We will take disciplinary or legal actions against any acts of bribery and
corruption. There was neither record on any corruption-related cases nor
receipt of any reports of suspected cases which involved the Group or its
employees.

40 KNK Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/2021

B7-RES
AEMRSEEENTGEEERE 2R
RESTA RMAERESRERAEE 14K
AEEFEM WEESEEAGELEE.

BHE RAEETERAETR  BTE
LERRBRAR A c RERBLL

=1

a) FREIHEZMAREMTEFSRME
FRUETEANEFEXAREAHAEER
WEBHED At ANRKERHER
FRFAETEATHNRMAFTAR
REEZFEANEBNER

b REAIBAS (BFEBRF/ AHEERE

B) REEMTE  FRAEUBN 2

KEABABSNETERNTAHRE
IR HE R EB BBV RINKN TR ; 3

) MEEABEFRPFARAHEBHNENET
RAEMITE > RS EEER EAER -

RAFE > ZFIBERETEBBER 56F 5FR
R RBNITABRERIER  AIUIIE B
LEBRRRAR A o

HAR M ERNBERRE ST RARBCREED N
ERTH -BEEMESAREFNLE TR
BEIEAIREAERSERERRFZ AR

=l
= °



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR LB RERBRS

B8. Community Investment

The Group regards contributions to society as part of its mission.

Our business development strategy also pays close attention to
community welfare. The Group has been devoted to promoting
community development by taking the lead and encouraging employees
to care for the community.

The Group has a vision and plan to support reputable non-profit-making
and charity organisations which focus on helping poor elderly or improving
children education for poor families.
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APPENDIX 1: HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE

Migr— : HEEBRMIRIR - HERER

INDEX HREHESIFRSI
Reference Comply or
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide General Disclosures Section/Remark Explain
BEEBMZARE - HEREEGREIES—RIKE BELEH EFORRE
A. Environment
ARIR
A1 Emission Information on: Environment aspect Compiled
(@  the policies; and
(b) compliance and material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes, etc.
A1HERR ERBRERERBEN mAKRIHNIES A REEE B&r
EREEBEEYNEEEN :
@ BER; R
b)) BIFRBEBERHETABEATENAERR
ERERIRBINE K o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental Performance ~ Complied
RARGIISIRA1Y  BIR R R AE R B RIRRE 2&
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total, and, where  Environmental Performance = Complied
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
RASRAR M IE1RA1.2 ERBRHNER WER BE WIUSESEE REXRRA 2&r
1_L @IE Eﬂu‘l’é) ©
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, Not applicable — No Explained
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of hazardous waste was
production volume, per facility). generated
RRENIEIRAIS  FELEEEEYRE UMW) k NER) BE TER-HBRELEEE CBRE
WU SESEA - BEREHE) o =37
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)  Environment aspect: Complied
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of - Resources Efficiency
production volume, per facility). Management
— Environmental
Performance
RREMIEREA14  PEEBRSEEYEE QEE) kK (MER) BE REER: [=y<iSh
U SESEM BERETE) © _BEMESE
-IRIBRI
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myazr S A TT NS
IRIE-(tEREARS
Reference Comply or
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide General Disclosures Section/Remark Explain
EEBMZMRE - HEREGREIES|—RIKE BEEH BT EFHRTE
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and  Environment aspect Complied
results achieved. — Resources Efficiency
Management
RARGEMIEIRA1.5 IR BINENRBIERFTEMR RIEEE BT
-ERMAEER
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous  Our Environment aspect Complied
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results ~ — Resources Efficiency
achieved. Management
RRENISIEAI HAREAEEAESEEYNAZ - RABELEN REEB BT
RIS R -ERMAEEIE
A2 Use of Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, ~ Our Environment aspect — Compiled
Resources water and other raw materials. Resources Efficiency
Management
A2EREF BUERER (BEFEER  KERHMEMR NEX REER-BRMEEE BT
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type  Our Environment aspect Compiled
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in *000s) and — Environmental
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Performance
facility).
MRERIEIZA2.1  RERIOSNEER/FBEEER WE -RI0H REBE-IRERRE BT
miEE UTETERGSE REE USEEE
T_L lIEDXﬁ’ﬂD+§> °
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit ~ Our Environment aspect Compiled
of production volume, per facility). — Environmental
Performance
BB NISIRA2.2 MFEKERBE MUEBESEMN -SERME) - REEE-RERR B&r
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and  Our Environment aspect Compiled
results achieved. — Resource Efficiency
Management
RASRAENISIRA2.3  HMAERER M@ st 8RS R REEE-BERWAESEE BEST
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  Not applicable — water Explained
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency consumption were
initiatives and results achieved. insignificant
RAREMIERA2.4 HICREGERKRE B EAME URREABK FERA-—FEKEFREKX [y
W st B R PTE AR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Not applicable — Packaging  Explained
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit materials used in
produced. operation were
insignificant.
RARENISIZA2S N GFTAEEMENEE CUESHE) K ER) TER-KEMANEE BHEE
BHEB(EE- MRIREK
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Reference Comply or
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide General Disclosures Section/Remark Explain
EARWRMIRIR - ERERBREIES—RIKE BESH B ErHERE
A3 The Policies on minimizing the operation’s significant  Not applicable — we did not  Explained
Environment impact on the environment and natural resources. have significant impact
and Natural on environment and
Resources natural resources during
our operation.
ARIBERRAER RESCEHRERRXABERSENEATENER FERA-HMLETLE CEWE
BEPHIRERRAE
RERERTE-
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on  Not applicable. We did not Explained
the environment and natural resources and the have significant impacts
actions taken to manage them. of activities on the
environment and natural
resources.
RARAENIEIEASY  HWIEBEHHIRERRABERNBEARZERER FTER- ?Wﬂjtﬁ%ﬂ“ii%& [y
BEEBEERATENTE - RRAERERERTE
BOZEFS
B. Social
BAtE
B1 Employment Information on: Employment & Labour Complied
Standards
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
B1{E{& BRI RE - BEREA TEEE -RBP-F EBEKSEIE] BT

e 2l RIEERUREMERN RFEBH
@@ KX

(b) BFHBFTAEEALENEMERRR
By o
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Iﬁiﬁ * '?:I: = & $I§
Reference Comply or
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide General Disclosures Section/Remark Explain
EAWMIRIR - ERERBREIES—RIKE BESH B ErERE
B2 Health and Information on: Health and Safety Compiled
Safety
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance and material non-compliance
with relevant standards, rules and regulations
on providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
B2 R %R ERRELZ2THRRERREREEREHELRS #REZS [=yciSy
B :
@ B
) EFThkEBERBBAEIN -RUEKRINE
Ko
B3 Development Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and  Staff Development and Compiled
and Training skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
training activities.
B33 & R iE ERRARERITILEBMENMNH RRENEK BIZEREKEI [=¥<iSh
HIIEIES)
B4 Labour Information on: Employment & Labour Compiled
Standard Standards
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance and material non-compliance with
relevant standards, rules and regulations on
preventing child or forced labour.
B4&5 T#HI BRARG IEE TR M55 ThY {2 18 Ko 55 THEH 2&
@ BER;R
) EFThkEBERBBAEIN -RUERINE
Bt
B5 Supply Chain Policies on managing environmental and social risks of ~ Supply Chain Management ~ Compiled
Management supply chain.
B5{FE 32 B 1T ERHEENIRIERTERBEE HAEREIE 2&
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Reference Comply or
SEHK ESG Reporting Guide General Disclosures Section/Remark Explain
EARWRMIRIR - ERERBREIES—RIKE BEEH BT ErHERE
B6 Product Information on: Quality Management and
Responsibility Service Liability
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance and material non-compliance
with relevant standards, rules and regulations
on health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
B6EmSE ERMRHELMBRBNEEEZE -ES B8 HE2EERRBFET
KRR T LU AR -
@ BER; R
) ErhkEBERBBAEIN -RUERINE
Ko
B7 Anti-corruption Information on: Anti-corruption principles Compiled
and practices are
(@  the policies; and embedded into
Employment handbook.
(b)  compliance and material non-compliance with Please refer to “Anti-
relevant standards, rules and regulations on corruption” section for
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. details.
B7TR&ES BRAPI LEERRS ~ 813 ~ BREF Rt B EEAY RESRAKBEEEMA BET
EEFM-BRAFE
@ BE;R EelREs o
) ErThkEBERBBAEI -RUERINE
Ko
B8 Community Policies on community engagement to understand the ~ Our Group is in Compiled
Investment community’s needs where it operates and to ensure consideration of setting
its activities take into consideration communities’ up policy on community
interests. investment in the future.
B8t EIE BRIt &2 HEE T HE LFHT‘H SEZMBEE AEEBETZSEHERK BESF
(BEHEERETEN mIVBER HERBENEE -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe, (Former Name: Poon Hoi Ming), aged 55, the
founder of the Group. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board
and Executive Director on 29 July 2015 and resigned as Chairman on
16 December 2019. Mr. Poon is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. He is responsible for the management of business of the
Group. Mr. Poon also collaborates with project directors and architects to
assume full responsibility for the projects.

Mr. Poon has over 20 years of experience in the architectural service
industry. He established Prompt Shine Investment Limited (currently
known as KKCAAL) in 1993 and currently is a director of that company.
Since 1999, he led Prompt Shine Investment Limited to specialise in
architectural expertise while simultaneously providing structural, building
services, interior design, project management and licensing services.

Currently, Mr. Poon is also a non-executive director of Kato (Hong Kong)
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 2189).

Mr. Poon graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s
degree of Arts in Architectural Studies in November 1988. He was then
awarded with a bachelor’s degree of Architecture from the University of
Hong Kong in December 1990.

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, aged 60, was appointed as an executive director
on 28 December 2020. He is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, company secretary and
authorised representative of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. He has approximately 30 years’
management experience at board level in a number of listed companies in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Chung is currently (i) an executive director, company secretary,
authorized representative and consultant of Elegance Optical International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 907); (i) an executive director of CT
Environmental Group Limited (Stock Code: 1363); (i) the company
secretary and authorized representative of Life Healthcare Group Limited
(Stock Code: 928); and (iv) the company secretary of QPL International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 243).
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EFERERITRAEZERE

Mr. Chung is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an ICAEW Business
and Finance Professional.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Pui Chung, aged 34, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 18 July 2019. He is also the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and Special Investigation Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has over 12 years of experience in accounting, finance and
auditing. He is currently the financial controller and company secretary
of IMS Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8136). Mr. Lee obtained
a bachelor of business administration degree in accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong in November 2008. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a full member of
CPA Australia.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy, aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 29 August 2019. She is also the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Special Investigation Committee
of the Company. Ms. Lai, has over 20 years of auditing, accounting and
financial management experience.

Ms. Lai is currently () an independent non-executive director of KPa-
BM Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 2663); (i) an independent non-executive
director of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings Group Limited (Stock
Code: 8366); (i) independent non-executive director of CT Environmental
Group Limited (Stock Code: 1363); and (iv) a non-executive director of
Larry Jewelry International Company Limited (Stock Code: 8351).

Ms. Lai obtained a master degree of business administration from the
University of Manchester in the United Kingdom in June 2010. She is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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EFRERITRAEZERE

Ms. Chan Yuk Chun, aged 59, was appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 2 November 2020. She is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms. Chan has experience
in business consultation and over 20 years’ experience in serving a
number of listed companies in Hong Kong as company secretary.

Ms. Chan holds a Master Degree in Corporate Finance from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and an external Bachelor Degree in Laws from
University of London. She is an associate member of both The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability on 29 July 2015 under the Companies Law
of the Cayman lIslands and acts as an investment holding company.
Under a group reorganisation to rationalise the structure of the Group
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange, the Company has become the ultimate holding
company of the Group on 21 September 2015. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business
is Unit E, 33rd Floor, Legend Tower, 7 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of comprehensive
architectural and structural engineering consultancy services.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange since 12 December 2016.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of the Group’s Business and Performance

Details of the review of the Group’s business (including an analysis using
key financial performance indicators) and the possible future development
of the Group’s business are set out in the sections headed “Executive
Director Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on it.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

While the direct impact of the Group’s business to the environment is
minimal due to the nature of our business, we are committed to providing
architectural consultancy services in a manner that minimises potential
adverse impact on the environment. To achieve this aim, we have adopted
a set of environmental protection policies including but not limited to
shutting down lights and various office electronic equipment when not in
use and reducing the paper consumption.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

As developing and retaining talents are vital to the Group’s success,
the Group not only provides competitive remuneration packages and
opportunities for career advancement, but also gives support in different
areas to its employees. During the Year, there were no significant disputes
between the Group and its employees.

In addition, the Group also kept maintaining a long-term healthy
relationships with its major customers and subcontractors by keeping
engaging new projects from them and engaging them on projects that
need their participations.

RESULTS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the state of
affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements from pages 67 to 151 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
Year (2020: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five years is set out in the section headed “Financial Summary”
on page 152 of this annual report. The summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, there is no reserve available for distribution to the
shareholders of the Company (2020: Nil).

USE OF PROCEEDS

With reference to the prospectus of the Company dated 30 November
2016 in relation to the listing of shares by the Company on the GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way of placing; the annual
reports of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 and for the
year ended 31 March 2020; and the announcement of the Company
dated 11 August 2020. The Company had unutilised net proceeds of
approximately HK$10.4 million (“Unutilised Net Proceeds”) which the
Board had resolved to change the use to general working capital of the
Group. The Unutilised Net Proceeds has been fully utilised during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES

A list of subsidiaries together with their places of operations and
incorporation and particulars of their issued share capital are out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2021 and
up to the date of the report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe
Mr. Chung Yuk Lun @ppointed on 28 December 2020)
Ms. Sin Pui Ying (resigned on 8 January 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Pui Chung

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy

Ms. Chan Yuk Chun (@ppointed on 2 November 2020)

Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Victor (resigned on 2 November 2020)

In accordance with the Articles of the Company, Mr. Chung Yuk Lun, Mr.
Lee Pui Chung, Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy and Ms. Chan Yuk Chun will retire
as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of Directors are set out from pages 47 to 49 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed for a fixed term
of three years under a letter of appointment issued by our Company.
Their appointment is renewable at each general meeting in which he is
standing for re-election and is subject to (i) the rotation, removal, vacation
or termination of his office as a Director or disqualification to act as a
Director as set out in the applicable laws, the Articles of the Company and
the GEM Listing Rules; and (i) the terms of the letter of appointment.

There have been no service contracts entered into by the Company
with any of the Directors which contain an unexpired period which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Company’s Prospectus and the related
party transactions as set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or entities connected with any of
them has or had any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during,
or at the end of, the year ended 31 March 2021.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, there were no arrangements
subsisting during, or at the end of, the year ended 31 March 2021 to
which the Company, its subsidiary(ies), its controlling shareholder(s), or
the subsidiary(ies) of its controlling shareholder(s) is a party and whose
objects were, or one of whose objects was, to enable Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, there were no contracts of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling Shareholders of the Company subsisting during the year ended
31 March 2021.

DONATION

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group made donation
amounting HK$10,000 (2020: Nil).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance covering Director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance when the Directors’
Report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section
391 of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration committee was established for reviewing and
determining the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the time
devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group. The Directors
may also receive options to be granted under a share option scheme. The
Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme. The details
of the share option scheme are set out in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Scheme” below.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company (the “Chief Executives”) in the
ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each in the Company
(“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFQ”) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuer set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the Shares
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percentage of

Number of issued share

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interests share held capital
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(Note 3) (Note 2)

(Btz£3) (Htzt2)

Mr. Poon Kai Kit, Joe (“Mr. Poon”) Interest of a controlled corporation 194,800,000 46.60%
ERUEEEE (DB%ED) REGEE R 194,800,0008%

Note: Hi&t

These Shares were registered in the name of Energetic Way Limited (“Energetic
Way”), which were owned as to 50% by Mr. Poon and 50% by Ms. Chan Ka Yee
(“Ms. Chan”), spouse of Mr. Poon. Under the SFO, Mr. Poon was deemed to have
interest in all of these Shares by virtue of having controlling interest in Energetic Way.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors or the Chief
Executives had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY IN SECURITIES

So far as is known to the Directors and the Chief Executives, as at
31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the persons or
corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives) in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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percentage of

Number of issued share

Name Capacity/Nature of interests share capital held
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(Note 2) (Note 3)

(Htzt2) (H1z£3)

Energetic Way (Note) Beneficial owner 194,800,000 46.60%
Energetic Way (%75%) EmEAA 194,800,0008%

Ms. Chan (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation 194,800,000 46.60%
BRZz+ (Bt SEGEEE S 194,800,0008%

Mr. Ke Yuexian Beneficial owner 69,168,000 16.55%

HEBLE BmEAA

Note:

These Shares were the same Shares of which Mr. Poon were interested as set
out under the section of “Interests and Short Positions of the Directors and Chief
Executives in Securities” above. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan was deemed to have
interest in all of these Shares by virtue of having controlling interest in Energetic Way.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there was no person
or corporation (other than the Directors and the Chief Executives) who
had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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OTHER INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE
SFO

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, there was
no other person who had interest or short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares that is discloseable under Chapter 18 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed ‘“interests and short
positions of the directors and chief executives in securities” and
“share option scheme” in this report, at no time during year ended 31
March 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 March
2021 had the Directors and the Chief Executives (including their spouses
and children under 18 years of age) held any interest in, or been granted,
or exercised any rights to subscribe for the Shares (or warrants or
debentures, if applicable) and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 March 2021, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

SHARES ISSUED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2021

No Share was issued during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND SIMILAR RIGHTS

No convertible securities, options, warrants and similar rights were issued
or granted by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the share option scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to any employee, adviser, consultant, agent, contractors,
client, supplier, customer and/or such other person, who in the sole
discretion of the Board has contributed or may contribute to our Group
(the “Eligible Participant”). The Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 21 November 2016 which has become
effective since 12 December 2016 (the “Effective Date”) whereby the
Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion and subject to the
terms of the Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares of
the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from the Effective Date.
Terms used below shall have the same meaning as those defined in the
section “D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

An offer of the grant of option(s) shall be made to an Eligible Participant by
letter in such form as the Board may from time to time determine requiring
the Eligible Participant to undertake to hold the Option on the terms
on which it is to be granted and to be bound by the provisions of the
Scheme and shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Participant
concerned until 5:00 p.m. on the 20th business days following the Offer
Date provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the
Scheme Period or after the Scheme has been terminated.

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted when the
duplicate of the offer letter as referred to above comprising acceptance
of the Option duly signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in
favour of the Company of HK$1.00 or any other amount as determined by
the Board by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within the period open for acceptance referred to above. Such
remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.
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The subscription price for the shares subject to Options will be a price
determined by the Board and notified to each participant and shall be
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the grant of
option, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant of
option; and (jii) the nominal value of a share.

As at the date of this report, the maximum number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme is 41,800,000 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of adoption of the Scheme.

The Company may at any time refresh such limit, subject to the
shareholders’ approval and issue of a circular in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules, provided that the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under all the share option schemes of the Company does not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue at the time of refreshment. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time
during a period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed ten
years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to each Eligible Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of offer of the grant of
option shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue for the
time being. Any further grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholder’s approval in general meeting.

As at the date of this report and since the adoption of the Scheme, no
share option has been granted by the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management and five
individuals of the Group with highest emoluments are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders
and their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business which competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group and none of them had or may
have any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company did not enter into
any connected transactions which required reporting, annual review,
announcements and/or independent shareholders’ approval under the
GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
revenue contribution over 10% of the total revenue of the Group, which
being the largest customer, contributed 41% of the total revenue of the
Group.

there was 1 customer with

As far as the Directors aware, neither the Director nor their associates nor
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of Directors own more than 5%
of the Company'’s issued share capital) had any interest in that customer
of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate revenue to the top five
customers of the Group accounted for approximately 50% (2020: 38%) of
the Group’s total revenue.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business activities, the Group has no
supplier.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group are set
out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group monitored services
provided to and subcontracting services provided from related parties
with an executive Director of the Company. Since the applicable ratios of
the respective annual caps of services provided to and subcontracting
services provided from that executive Director is less than 5% and less
than HK$3,000,000, these transactions fall within the exemption under
Rule 20.74(1) of the GEM Listing Rules and no reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval are required.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no bank borrowing and an
approximately HK$8.2 million borrowings from independent third parties
which is repayable within one year.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have any charge arranged with any financial institution
in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The revenue and business costs of the Group were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and thus the exposure to the risk of
foreign exchange rate fluctuations for the Group was minimal. Hence, no
financial instrument for hedging was employed.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liability had come to the attention of the Directors
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date hereof.
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LITIGATIONS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
13 July 2020, 21 July 2020, 31 August 2020 and 8 October 2020 in
relation to, amongst others, the Alleged Bond and the Alleged Debt. The
Company received the statement of claim in relation to the Writ on 8
December 2020 in which the Plaintiff claimed against the Company, inter
alia, HK$5,830,000 being the principal and interest of the Alleged Debt.
The Company’s lawyer is contesting the claim in the legal proceedings for
the time being.

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company dated 31
August 2020 in relation to the claim against three ex-directors, namely
Mr. Sun Xiao Li, Mr. Gu Jintai and Ms. Shi Lijie for breach of fiduciary
duties. At present, the writ was lodged at the Hong Kong Judiciary on 9
November 2020 for service out of jurisdiction through the PRC Judiciary
on them at their last known PRC addresses. As advised by the legal
advisers of the Company in respect of this litigation in June 2021, service
of the writ to them through the PRC Judiciary was unsuccessful. The
Company is considering the legal adviser’s advice on application for
substituted service of the writ to them.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of them are independent.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
24 January 2020 and 22 March 2021. The Company had reached a
settlement agreement with Full Rich Human Resources Limited and
Goldman Holdings Limited on 2 June 2021 for the loans advanced to
them.

The Company has not yet taken litigation against the other debtors owing
to insufficient documentation and/or cancellation of business licence of
corporate debtor(s).
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Save as disclosed herein and in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, up to the date of this report, there was no significant event
relevant to the business or financial performance of the Group that come
to the attention of the Directors after the year ended 31 March 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to promoting high standards of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that sound and reasonable corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding the shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied
with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code save for the deviations
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” in this
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Mazars CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company on 7 May 2021,
and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, was
appointed as auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy with effect from 7
May 2021.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2021 AGM to re-appoint ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited as auditor of the Company.
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THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE QUALIFIED OPINION

During the course of audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year, the auditor has raised concern on the Group’s loan
receivables and other borrowings. The management of the Company (the
“Management”) has considered the auditor’s rationale and understood
their consideration in arriving at the qualified opinion. The Management is
unable to reach the former Executive Directors to obtain the information
and supporting documents of the loan receivables and other borrowings.
Nevertheless, the Management has successfully controlled the board
of Golden Legend Capital Limited and obtained the bank statements,
payment and receipt records of certain loan receivables and/or other
borrowings. In addition, settlement agreement had been reached with
2 borrowers. As a result, the auditor agreed to change the disclaimer
opinion on loan receivables and other borrowings from disclaimer opinion
last year to qualified opinion this Year. Moreover, the amount of loan
receivables being qualified has been reduced as compared to last year.
The Management will continue to take all possible actions in order to
retrieve all necessary information.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE QUALIFIED
OPINION

Members of the Audit Committee have critically reviewed the basis for
qualified opinion, the Management’s position and actions taken by the
Management for addressing the basis for qualified opinion. The Audit
Committee agreed with the Management’s position and requested
the Management to use its best endeavors to retrieve all necessary
information. The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditor
regarding actions taken and to be taken by the Management, and
considered the auditor’s rationale and understood their consideration in
arriving at the qualified opinion.
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PLAN TO ADDRESS QUALIFIED OPINION

In order to address the qualified opinion, the Company will discuss
proactively with the auditor the measures to be taken by the Company to
resolve the qualified opinion on the loan receivable and other borrowings.
The qualified opinion may become unnecessary when the loan receivable
and other borrowings no longer have any effect on the profit and loss
account of the Company in the coming year(s).

On behalf of the board

Chung Yuk Lun
Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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ZHONGHUI
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KNK HOLDINGS LIMITED
HESIREFERERAR

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KNK Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 67 to 151, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION
1. Loan receivables

Included in loan receivables on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 were
loan receivables of approximately HK$2.57 million which were
advanced to several individual and companies. We were unable
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and reasonable
explanation to substantiate the existence and nature of the relevant
transactions.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

1.

Loan receivables (Continued)

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves as to the recoverability of loans receivable of
approximately HK$8.91 million and HK$2.57 million respectively as
at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 respectively.

Included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
31 March 2021 there were write-off loan receivable and reversal
of write-off loan receivable in the amounted of HK$10.16 million
and HK$1.25 million respectively. We were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence and reasonable explanation to
substantiate if these were appropriately recorded.

Other borrowings

As set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements,
there were other borrowings of HK5.5 million as at 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2021. We have not been able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the existence,
rights, obligation and completeness of other borrowing of HK$5.5
million as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021.

Any adjustments to the above figures might have a consequential effect
on the consolidated financial performance for the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2021 and the consolidated financial position as at 31 March
2020 and 2021 and related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$13,141,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 and as at 31
March 2021 the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately HK$7,219,000 and HK$2,163,000 respectively. These
conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Trade receivables

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of HK$3,756,000 as at 31 March 2021 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment
test involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the
customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

- Assessing ageing of the debts;

= Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables is
supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence from points 1
to 2. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRS issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
RV PR S GIES e

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:
http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO3614
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reEmMHMEERER

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

2021 2020
—E—-F TEIZE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FET
Revenue Wz 7 41,246 29,779
Cost of services RIS A A (37,977) (35,501)
Gross profit/(loss) EF, (38 3,269 (5,722)
Other income HukA 8A 1,647 344
Other gains and losses H 28 Ko B5 18 8B 963 -
Administrative expenses THERX (14,663) (13,572)
Finance costs EIE=1%:N 9 (967) 673)
Share of results of associates = YNCIEF = 16 (2,943) (2,484)
Reversal of/(write off) of loan receivables B () rUER 18 1,250 (10,159)
Loss allowance on contract assets BHEERIERE 17 (1,714) (2,003)
Loss on derecognition of subsidiaries RILTESI B AR 2 E518 - 1)
Loss before tax IR AT RS 18 9 (13,158) (34,130)
Income tax credit/(expenses) Frigft (k%) /Bx 11 17 (24)
Loss and total comprehensive loss EATRBEANELEESERS
for the year attributable to owners ER5 1848 %E
of the Company (13,141) (34,334)
Loss per share SiREE
Basic HA 12 HK(3.14) cents Afll  HK(8.21) cents Al
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEMBRTR

At 31 March 2021 JF =&

F=H="+—H

2021 2020
—EZ-F TETEE
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt 52 FAET FET
Non-current assets EREEE

Property, plant and equipment ME-BERRE 14 198 568
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 122 514
Interests in associates REERNB 2w 16 4,736 7,847
5,056 8,929

Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EMEWRTUE 17 4,314 9,945
Loan receivables R ER 18 1,250 =
Tax recoverable BEE - 1,988
Bank balances and cash RITHEGRRIRE 2,577 11,149
8,141 23,082

Current liabilities mEEE
Trade and other payables B 5 KREMENRIE 19 1,296 3,775
Other borrowings HMMER 20 5,500 5,500
Term loan THE™ 21 8,234 5,350
Bond payable FE(I &S 22 - 5,000
Lease liabilities HESE 23 208 715
Tax payable LR 122 77
15,360 20,417
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (B8R EERE (7,219) 2,665
Total asset less current liabilities BERERTHER (2,163) 11,594
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EE M HRTR

At 31 March 2021 R ZE-—#=H=+—H

2021 2020
—EZ-F TEIEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
b= FAET FET
Non-current liabilities EREAERE
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 - 616
- 616
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (8R) EEFE (2,163) 10,978
Capital and reserves B K e
Share capital [N 25(a) 4,180 4,180
Reserves 1B (6,343) 6,798
TOTAL EQUITY R 4EEE (2,163) 10,978

These consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 151 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June

FITE151ENZSE

_—HRAB=+HKE

ROV BREER_-Z

THOERETIE 1

2021 and signed on its behalf by BAUTESEAREE
Director Director
BE EFE
Chung Yuk Lun Poon Kai Kit Joe
EEE BRI

74 KNK Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/2021



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

TEEmEERR

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATEE AL
Accumulated
Issued Share Other profits/ Total
capital premium reserves (losses) equity
RetdE/

BETRKRA R iRE HAthf# & (§518) gk

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FAIT FHT TR FHET

Note 25(b)()  Note 25(b)(ii)
FezEosb)i)  HIEE25(0)i)

At 1 April 2019 R-Z—-hEME—H 4,180 33,785 5,000 2,347 45,312
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEBEENEE

loss for the year 5184858 - - - (34,334) (34,334)

At 31 March 2020 RIZ_EE

=B=+—H 4,180 33,785 5,000 (31,987) 10,978

At 1 April 2020 RZZEZZEEMB—H 4,180 33,785 5,000 (31,987) 10,978
Loss and total comprehensive FEBIERE2H

loss for the year E51R4A%E - - - (13,141) (13,141)

At 31 March 2021 RIEZ—&
=R=+—H 4,180 33,785 5,000 (45,128) (2,163)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

m7|'\ Eﬁ:%/)ﬂi%

Year ended 31 March 2021 B FX _—&F _—F#=H=+—HIFFZ

2021 2020
—E—-F TEIZE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE)
Cash used in operations KREMMBRE 26(a) (7,858) (14,824)
Income taxes refund/(paid) BB (BN iER 2,050 (528)
Net cash used in operating activities R EEFTAIREIR4E (5,808) (15,352)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEH
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HEMZ AB ZERIE 500 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BEKRKE
plant and equipment ZFTi8FIE 320
Investment in an associate REE AR Z/E - (2,500)
Loans advanced BHEM = (6,067)
Net cash generated from/(used in) in investing R &EEEFRE (FTH)
activities &35 820 (8,567)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Proceeds from other borrowings HiERZFTSRIA - 5,500
Repayment of other borrowings BEAEMER - (4,092)
Repayment of bond BiEES (5,000) =
Proceeds from term loan TEERZ FIEIE 2,884 5,350
Payment of lease liabilities and interests HESERFEAR (769) (909)
Interest paid Eﬁﬂ B (699) (200)
Net cash (use in)/generated from financing §i & ;&8 (FR ) /FriEM
activities e HEE 26(b) (3,584) 5,649
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR& KIRE X BV LB EE (8,572) (18,270)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#REKIBEZEY
of year 11,149 29,419
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year, FXRIRERIASZLEY $55R1T
represented by bank balances and cash 8RR IRE) 2,577 11,149
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TV

e R R MIEE

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

KNK Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses
of its registered office and principal place of business are Cricket
Square Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and Unit E, 33/F, Legend Tower, 7 Shing Yip
Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in provision of comprehensive architectural and structural
engineering consultancy services. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Energetic Way Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$13,141,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 and as at 31
March 2021 the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
HK$7,219,000 and HK$2,163,000 respectively. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
financial support of a director at a level sufficient to finance the
working capital requirements of the Group. The director has agreed
to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities as
they fall due. The directors are therefore of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the financial statements
to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and
to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and
liabilities, respectively.
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o HEF R R AL K I B 2 B
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SRE B \3BIBEE ©

FABR/—RREZERAB AR RE
MEAR EIcEE) TERFRES
ENEREREBIEBREART -EWNEA
BINEEZEBHN GOV BRRMEES -

EERB A REANREERRE S
Energetic Way Limited (—B R R BH# T R
BHEFMMIZBRATE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

3.

78

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless
otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2020
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the
new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective
from the current year as detailed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. A summary of the principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost.

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

4.

AT R MY EE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment over their estimated useful lives from the date
on which they are available for use and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method, at the following rates per annum. Where parts of
an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease

Office equipment 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicle 33-1/3%

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, which is
presented within these notes, an interest in a subsidiary
is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying
amount of the interest in a subsidiary is reduced to its
recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

80

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s interest in associate is accounted for under the
equity method of accounting, except when the investment
or a portion thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost
and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes
in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee, the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses
when the Group’s share of losses of the investee equals or
exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in the investee,
which includes any long term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the investee.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

4.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (i) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control
of the financial asset.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables and contract
assets) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the
case of financial assets not carried at fair value through
profit and loss (“FVPL”"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such
trade receivables and contract assets are initially measured at
their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income; (iii)
equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which
case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first
day of the first annual reporting period following the change in
the business model.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation process are
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade
and other receivables, loan receivables and bank balances
and cash.

Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the

liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, other borrowings, term loan and bond payable. All
financial liabilities are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (‘ECL”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost. Except for the specific treatments as detailed
below, at each reporting date, the Group measures a loss
allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk
on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e.
the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life
of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped together based on the past due
information.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss
allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument.

KNK Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/2021

4.

x
()

EEFEER (@)

EMTA (@

TREERE (@

FHIE BRI 51 2
RHREERENNEMIARRE
HAP AL N 5BV S E S48 (RD
PREIRTHRERNIRGE) -

REMEEMS  EEBREBERE
BHRNBERENGNRERENE
R EWERNREREZENE
BERIRE-

EHEREEREENREMITARN
FEHEAREMMA R EENSEHM
EENRREERE -M2@E/E
HiEEREERNRS AR®R12E
BERTEEENERITEMEREN
EHMBMEENND 2EMRE
BiB5ige

MBS EEEEREREENSE,
ST EREAPERFE—ETH
48 o

BREFRNRESRSARERSFEU
RER¥N S HERLIRERTEEER
BRBENED - HBREERTUN
EPNEERIR/BERB LN S
BT AREEFEERE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Z'i" A
Wi 3

AT R MY EE

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
asset that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group);
or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

ES

()

EEFEER (@)

ERMTIA (@

TREERE (@

BRI ESE
FEBRBUTERRABEER
BMEEENMEBRENSE S
PHELEBRBTNEMEENTS MU
TER-BEL REBRFKREE
BWEREESNEEE-

() FAAMHTEBEREEB I
RREHBREFZATAH
FEXBmHERA (BEAE
B) IR (RE BAEEPR
FEERR) ;

(i) XBHFHAEERMBLE-

Tam LD ATIE > FEREBR >
TRIEEBABBOR QIEERE
NEMH BRIFFEERERAEER
RNBNREBRGENGEMA
BIRHER RIFERR

1EE R R E S a9

HLEMTANEGEERREVDE
BLRESREBENE FEET
REBEEREANEMIEZLEEY
R BHEENFEDHATR
TRAZFLEENNERKRILR - FHIL
SR AREBERFEESEM
ARENEEREEEMN BEER
HTHBZHANE IR ERSH
FESE SRR S R RE L E R o

2020/2021 %5 E SIREEIERARAR 85



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VA= AN

TV

AT R MY EE

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

4,

86

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account in
the assessment:

° the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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4.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

0} it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fuffil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

The financial instruments are determined to have low credit
risks are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data
about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued))

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

® the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group has a policy of writing off the gross
carrying amount when the financial asset is 1 year past due
based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets.
The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount
written off. However, financial assets that are written off could
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account
legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or loss.
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AT R MY EE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and interests in associates
may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the smallest group of assets that
generates cash flows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. Reversal of impairment losses is recognised as
income in profit or loss immediately.

Revenue recognition
Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the
assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is provision of comprehensive architectural and structural

engineering consultancy services.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

@)

(b)

a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same pattern
of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources that
are readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or
service is capable of being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over
time and, therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is
met:

(@  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

(o) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as
legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer
acceptance.

Service income from provision of comprehensive architectural
and structural engineering consultancy services is recognised
over time when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs, or when the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

92

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the input method (i.e. based
on the proportion of the actual inputs deployed to date as
compared to the estimated total inputs) to measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation because there is a direct relationship between
the Group’s inputs and the transfer of control of goods or
services to the customers and reliable information is available
to the Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until such
time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of the
performance obligation. The principal input applied in input
methods is labour hours and/or third party and related party
costs incurred.

Variable consideration

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable
amount, the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to a customer. The variable
consideration is estimated by using either the expected-
value or the most-likely-amount method whichever is better
to predict the entitled amount. The estimated variable
consideration is then included in the transaction price only to
the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised of the
contract will not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-
impaired financial assets.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4.

(i

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, the contract is presented as
a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or
the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service
to the customer, the contract is presented as advance
payments from customers when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net advance payment from
customers is presented. Contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net
basis.

It is common for the Group to receive from the customer the
whole or some of the contractual payments before the goods
are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such
transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until it
is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

On the other hand, in accordance with the standard payment
schedules of the Group, payments are normally not due or
received from the customer until the services are completed
or when the goods are delivered. However, for such
transactions, revenue is recognised over time and therefore,
a contract asset is recognised until it becomes a receivable
or payments are received. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract asset and recognised as interest income.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

@)

(k)

()

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of change in value.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the consolidated financial statements
are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong
dollars (“‘HK$”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.

Lease

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0

Lease (Continued)
As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-
term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments
associated with these leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

@)

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0

Lease (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease
transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by
the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option
— in which case depreciation is provided over the estimated
useful life of the underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises 3 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following payments for the right to
use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date:

(@ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

() amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the

lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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4.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0

Lease (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable,
the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from
a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of
the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount
of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(@  the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b)  the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

4,

x
U]

EEFEER (@)

HE (@)

EREEAN &)
HEMNREREENRS A X
oMzt REEDEMERE R
RAAB ARG EERFE-

Hiz - HEAREBEMKREENU
RERIEE & ER B R ARREEN
REBBENEEMRETHE.

ERENHREFMEEEENN
EHNEMTEEIEREERGE
BECTHERERERF HEERE
ERRETRERETENGNE-

rEBRBHEERGEMIESEEE
BB ERAREENRAE -HER
REERBERVCETEREES
Bt BE— TR REBKNIE
mPEBENERFENRGS
(e

il HIBUTIBER  BEERBIES
BBAEAR:

@ mENBEBEM—EIUL
18 RE & E B9 fE AR T #E K
HERE; &

b HEAEBENEEAERE
BARENEEREERERD
[ BR s TE & 49 BY B L T 2%
BERERETHNENEER
o

2020/2021 %5 E SIREEIERARAR 97



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zfi" P
Wi 3

AT R MY EE

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

4,

98

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0

Lease (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(@ the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

(o)  the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

(c)  the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate over the revised lease term.

(d)  for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of
the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full
termination of the lease and recognising any gain or
loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease
in profit or loss.

(e)  for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date of the
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the underlying asset. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as an operating lease if the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group has applied the
recognition exemption. Otherwise, the sublease is classified
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease.
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4.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

0

(m)

(n)

Lease (Continued)
As lessor - operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as
a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and when a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation
can be made. Expenditures for which a provision has been
recognised are charged against the related provision in the
year in which the expenditures are incurred. Provisions are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount provided is the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a provision
to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

100

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not
recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.
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4. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group:

@)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

)

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Related parties (Continued)
(Continued)

(b)

W)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Group

and include:

@)

(b)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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4.

AT R MY EE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(q) Borrowing costs

r)

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on
the temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued new/revised HKFRSs
that are not yet effective for the current year, which the Group
has not early adopted.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the results of the Group.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new/revised HKFRSs that

are first effective for the current accounting period of the Group. Of
these, the changes in accounting policy relevant to the consolidated
financial statements are as follows:

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 8, Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 7, 9, and HKAS 39, Interest Rate

Benchmark Reform

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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6.

104

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made by the management in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. They affect the application of the
Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed
on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period of
revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects future
periods.

Going concern basis

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends upon the financial support
of a director at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements of the Group. Details are explained in note 2 to
financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade
receivables and contract assets measured at amortised cost by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a default
and expected loss rate. The estimation involves high degree of
uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical information,
existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of such financial assets measured at amortised cost.
Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating ECL
are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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6.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

As explained in principal accounting policy, revenue recognition
on an uncompleted project is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the Group’s recent experience and the nature of the activity
undertaken by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced such that
the costs to complete and revenue can be reliably estimated.
Actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher
or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group assesses annually if interests in associates have suffered
any impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 and follows the
guidance of HKFRS 9 in determining whether amounts due from
these entities are impaired. Details of the approach are stated in
the respective accounting policies. The assessment requires an
estimation of future cash flows, including expected dividends, from
the assets and the selection of appropriate discount rates. Future
changes in financial performance and position of these entities
would affect the estimation of impairment loss and cause the
adjustments of their carrying amounts.
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6.

106

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Determination of discount rate for calculating lease liabilities
- as lessee

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate to discount
future lease payments since interest rate implicit in the leases is not
readily determinable. In determining the discounts rate for its leases,
the Group refers to a rate that is readily observable as the starting
point and then applies judgement and adjusts such observable rate
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

The directors review the residual value, useful lives and
depreciation/amortisation method of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets at the end of each reporting period, through
careful consideration with regards to expected usage, wear-and-
tear and potential technical obsolescence to usage of the assets.
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6.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

In determining whether an asset is impaired, the directors have
to assess whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of the asset would be determined by reference to value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is determined
using the discounted cash flow method. Owing to inherent risk
associated with estimations in the timing and magnitude of the
future cash flows and fair value less costs of disposal, the estimated
recoverable amount of the asset may be different from its actual
recoverable amount and profit or loss could be affected by
accuracy of the estimations.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(@) Revenue and business segment

6.

7.

R g st st R FIER (&)
mEFRERRZ TERRE (B)

ME - -BERRBUREAEEENAFE
FRF8 (&

REETEEESRAER EFANEES
BEFRETEEEEENFTE - HERA
R EFET EENTKRLDESRBR2E®
AEERATEREERFTEE -ERE
B ERTRIRENEEETE - ENEG
SAARRRERER A FEBHENER
R RZEEFANEE RR  BENES
AIREEEAERNNEERT RO
BRIBm P RER Mt ER MR E -

Wz B 3 BB E L
(@) WEREHIE

2021 2020
—E—F S
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with EARAMBHRESENE15REER
customers within HKFRS 15 REEFR SIS
Contract revenue from provision for REREEEERLREETEZERD
comprehensive architectural and AR TS BE R I FE SRRV & AV W
structural engineering consultancy
services recognised over time 41,246 29,779
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7.

108

AT R MY EE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue and business segment (Continued)

The Group’s operation is mainly derived from provision for
comprehensive architectural and structural engineering
consultancy services. For the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment, the chief operating decision
marker (i.e. the directors of the Company) reviews the
overall results and financial position of the Group as a whole
prepared in accordance with accounting policies which
conform to HKFRSs. Accordingly, the Group has only one
single operating segment and no further analysis of this single
segment is presented.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its contracts such that the Group does
not disclose information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts as all contract works have an
original expected duration of one year or less.

Geographical information

All of the Group’s external revenue during the Year are
derived from services rendered in Hong Kong, the place of
domicile of the Group’s operating entities.

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based
on (i) the physical location of the asset in the case of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets; and (i) the
location of the operation to which they are allocated in the
case of deposits and prepayments. In the case of interest in
the associate, it is based on the location of the operation of
such associate.

Since all of the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets employed by the Group are located in Hong
Kong, the location of the operation to which deposits
and prepayments are allocated and the operations of the
associates are in Hong Kong, no geographical information is
presented accordingly.
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7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(b) Geographical information (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing individually over 10%

7. WmEKkOBER (@)

(b) MUIHEFR (@

BERTEERNER

BREEFEERTE10%I L AR

or more of the Group’s revenue is as follows: BEEPRZW@mYERNT
2021 2020
—E-—F “BTEHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Customer A ZEA 16,928 5,795

8A. OTHER INCOME 8A. Hftlt A
2021 2020
—E—F TETRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FET
Rental income from subleases of FRAEEE BHAYEER

right-of-use assets/rented premises B WA 294 294
Government grants BT L 1,232 =
Sundry income FETEUA 121 50
1,647 344

The Group successfully applied for government grants that relate to
wage subsidy set up by the Hong Kong SAR Government. Under
the conditions of the wage subsidy, the Group is required to retain
its local employees even if business is affected by the COVID-19

outbreak.

8B. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

FEERYFFEEREBNARILA
B LB BN AL - RiE TEMAL
o Bl Z FICOVID-19B 1B 2

FERNERBELMES -

8B. Hithixm K518

2021 2020

—E % —ETERF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Gain on disposal of an associate HEMZ AN E 332 =
Net gain on disposal of property, HEYE RE KR RENW T FEE

plant and equipment 234 -

Net gain on lease modification HEEET N 35 397 -

963 -
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAX

9. PFRMIAIESIR

This is stated after charging: LEBBRBHIR ©
2021 2020
—E_—F —EIZEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Finance costs Eii=ga %
Interest on bond payable ENESHE 166 420
Interest on term loan EHERFE 758 160
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEEGZHERZ 43 93
967 673
Staff costs (including directors’ BTRA (BIEEEME)
remuneration)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENREMER 17,690 20,541
Contributions to defined contribution plans ERAHRGET BB 1,193 1,229
Total staff costs BT i A48%8 18,883 21,770
Less: Amount included in cost of services ST AFTIRERFB AN EEE
rendered (13,802) (17,484)
Total staff costs included in administrative FATERENE TR A 425
expenses 5,081 4,286
Other items HEH
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN = 500 500
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)¥% R & BHITE 284 656
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 392 781
Provision for impairment losses REBIERE
— Property, plant and equipment —ME- -BERRE GTATTHAR)
(included in administrative expenses) - 227
— Right-of-use assets —ERAEEE GTATTEHHES)
(included in administrative expenses) - 852

110 KNK Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. EERSREEREEME
EMOLUMENTS
The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid or payable to the ENHENAABES ML AT !
Company'’s directors are as follows:
For the year ended 31 March 2021
BEE-_—E-B=1+—HLEE
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
Directors’  and benefits Discretionary  contribution
fees in kind bonuses plan Total
e 2R ELEMTREE
HENS BWER BT B &
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TERT THET FHET FET
Executive directors: BiTES:
Poon Kai Kit, Joe BRI = 3,960 660 267 4,887
Chung Yuk Lun @ ERB 9% - - - 9%
Sin Pui Ying @ Himgew 185 = = = 185
Independent non-executive directors: BIUERTES:
Lee Pui Chung it 150 - - - 150
Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REY 120 - - - 120
Chan Yuk Chun @ BERS 49 - - - 49
Chan Chung Yin, Victor © BRfpoR0 7 - - - 7
669 3,960 660 267 5,556
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. EEhEREEEME @
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020
HECZZF=A=1+-HLEE
Salaries, Contributions
allowances to defined
Directors’ and benefits ~ Discretionary contribution
fees in kind bonuses plan Total
e EER EBMHNEE
EEiE 2YEF HETEAL iofe @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TERT FTERT TERT FET
Executive directors: WTES:
Poon Kai Kit, Joe BRI = 3,960 1,160 768 5,888
Sin Pui Ying @@ YA =l - 142 - - 142
Chan Ka Yee BRERY 772 180 - 128 1,080
Gu Jintai © AEHRO 71 - - - 71
Shi Lije © PG 7 = = = 4
Feng Wei @ HED 88 - - = 88
Sun Xiao Li ® BB 71 - - - 71
Independent non-executive directors: BIUERTES:
Chan Chung Yin Victor © BR{RIAS 7 - - = 7
Lai Pk Chi, Peggy REY 4l - - - 7
Lee Pui Chung )] 126 - - = 126
Kong Kam Wang © TRE 75 - - - 75
Sung Hak Keung Andly (© Rz 66 - - = 66
Wong Kai Tat © FHREY 75 - - - 75
1,857 4,282 1,160 896 7,895

112
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@

Mr. Chung Yuk Lun was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 28 December 2020.

Ms. Sin Pui Ying resigned as an executive director of the Company on
8 January 2021.

Mr. Chan Chung Yin, Victor resigned and Ms. Chan Yuk Chun was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 2 November 2020.

Ms. Chan Ka Yee resigned and Ms. Sin Pui Ying was appointed as an

executive director of the Company on 29 August 2019.

Mr. Gu Jintai removed from his office of executive director of the
Company on 13 December 2019.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

© Ms. Shi Lijie was removed from her office of executive director of the
Company on 13 December 2019.

@ Mr. Feng Wei was retired as an executive director of the Company on
12 August 2019.
® Mr. Sun Xiao Li resigned as an executive director of the Company on

8 November 2019.

© Mr. Kong Kam Wang and Mr. Wong Kai Tat resigned as independent
non-executive directors of the Company on 28 August 2019.

(10 Mr. Sung Hak Keung Andy retired as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 12 August 2019.

No directors and five highest paid individuals have waived
emoluments in respect of the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors and
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

10.

EEREREEEMSE (B

& SYRLER_B-AEFE+ZA+=H
REEARBDRITEE B

i FREER-_B2-—AENB+ZAERE
KRABHITES

& BREIAER _Z-NAFE+—A/N\BE
ERRBRITESE-

® IREERERERBCERENR S —NEF

NAZ+N\BBREEARBBIUIFNTE
%D

0 REBEENR_FT-AENATZHR
ERRBBIUIFRTES-

A B —FEREEE=ZA=Z+—
HEFE UESERILRSHMAL
RN = o
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include one director (2020: one) whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. Details of

the emoluments of the remaining four individuals (2020: four) are as
follows:

10.

EEREREEEME (B

rEEFRALREFMATERE—U

(CEBZZ2F —) EE EHM=HEN L
MXHRE D) o BB (CTTZFF :
) Az EmT

2021 2020

—E-—F BT

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHExT

Salaries and other emoluments e R EMBNE 3,120 2,640
Contributions to defined contribution plan ERAERGET BB R 240 54
Discretionary bonuses EYIETEAL 1,160 2,424
4,520 5118

The emoluments were paid to the remaining four (2020: four)
highest paid individuals as follows:

SAAHBOM (T2 22EF W) RE
A TZBEWmT :

Emoluments band i [ 1 Number of individuals
A
2021 2020
—EEHF —E-NEF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 %F1,000,0007 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,0007 7T 3 4
4 4

114 KNK Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R R MIEE

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

11.

TAXATION 11. R\
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% ERNNEREBEERAFEGHTERR
(2020: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the Year, WA BI16.5% (ZE-ZFF 116.5%) 5t
except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying B ERAESRMAF THEESATN
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. REE—FEHBABERIN o
For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits are Z Mt BN B 2 B2,000,00058 TTIZ FERR IR
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed A V8. 25% IR MR T 28 0 HZ FERR R i
at 16.5%. The provision of the Hong Kong Profits Tax for this FM16.5% IR - ZWBABNEEBFIF
subsidiary was calculated on the same basis in 2020. MEBEER S EFREREEFE-
The Cayman Islands levies no tax on the income of the Company HEBREBUWAHARDRAERZ WA
and the Group. BUAEAIFRIE ©
2021 2020
ZEZ—F TETITE
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FAET
Current tax RITIRIAE
Hong Kong Profits Tax: SENER
Current year KEE 70 50
Over-provision for prior year B FEBREEE (87) -
Deferred taxation IRIERRIE
Origination and reversal of temporary UM ER EE R EOHEE
differences, net - (26)
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year NEEHERIE ER) ER (17) 24
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11. TAXATION (Continued) 1. I\ &)
Reconciliation of tax expense MIERISZ Z HER 2021 2020
B —EIZE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Loss before taxation PRI AIES1E (13,158) (34,310)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% BB ARE16.5%

(2020:16.5%) (CZE-ZHF 1 16.5%) 28R (2,171) (5,661)
Resullts of associates i =N 486 410
Non-deductible expenses AR 163 3,170
Tax exempt revenue BRI (94) -
Differences in tax rates MEER - (501)
Unrecognised temporary differences AEREFER - 233
Unrecognised tax losses RIERIR BRI 1,668 2,423
Tax effect of the two-tiered profits tax FERMRFZNFTE

rates regime (69) (50)
Tax (credit)/expense for the year REERIE (KR B (17) 24
The applicable tax rate is the Hong Kong profits tax rate of 16.5% BREREABTAMNERE16.5% (2T
(2020: 16.5%). T 1 16.5%) ©
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12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BikESIE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is as follows: SERNREEBEEAENT
(a) Basic loss per share () =KREXESIE
2021 2020
—E-—&  C-ZC°%E
Loss attributable to owners of the RNAFHEE AELEE (FE7T)
Company (HK$'000) (13,141) (34,334)
Weighted average number of ordinary LB mETa (TR
shares ('000) 418,000 418,000
Basic loss per share (HK cents) FSREAREE GB) (3.14) 8.21)
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) EI#EEIE
Diluted loss per share equals to basic loss per share as there BEZZ”-_GRZZEZZEF=HR
was no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the —t+—HIEEE SREBEEEES
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. REREAREE THHERIMEIT

AEEHERENEER-

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for EEFEBRNVEBEE-_ZE-_—F=H
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$NIl). —t+—HLEFENEARE (ZEZE
F BB -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

118

14. YME -BERRE

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicle Total
RERETE
HEMERE WARE R®E RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TEr TERT
Reconciliation of carrying amount R & 2 $ 8k
- year ended 31 March 2021 -BE_T-—F
ZA=+—HLEE
At the beginning of the year F4] - 1 397 170 568
Additions HE - - - - -
Depreciation nE - (1) (199) (84) (284)
Disposal HE - - - (86) (86)
At end of the reporting period RERR - - 198 - 198
At 31 March 2021 RZEF-—-&5=B=+—H
Cost [BEN - 9 992 - 1,001
Accumulated depreciation and REMERAEESSE
impairment losses - ©) (794) - (803)
- - 198 - 198
Recongiliation of carrying amount REAEZHE
— year ended 31 March 2020 —HEZ-ZE
ZA=+—HItFE
At the beginning of the year F17 514 2 595 340 1,451
Depreciation it 4 (287) () (198) (170) (656)
Impairment loss REBE (227) = = = (227)
At end of the reporting period REHX - 1 397 170 568
At 31 March 2020 KIB-BE=A=+—H
Cost A 1,031 9 992 510 2,542
Accumulated depreciation REHrE (1,031) ®) (595) (340) (1,974)
- 1 397 170 568
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. [FRAEEE
The Group as lessee EEBEEAEEA
Disclosures of lease-related items: THEHEMAER ZEE -
2021 2020
—E--—& C"T-TH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 31 March: W=BA=+—8":
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE
— Office premises L YNYES 122 514
Lease commitments of leases not yet i RBIETEE 2 HERIE
commenced (other than short-term leases) GIHEAFAERRIN 839 =
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ~AEBEAEEEER
cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is as ~ REFIRIREHE >
follows: EIFA T
— Less than 1 year — bR —F 210 768
— Between 1 and 2 years ——EME - 629
210 1,397
Year ended 31 March: BE=BA=1+—HLEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREBEZINEER
— Office premises ) YN/ ES 392 781
Lease interests MEFE 43 93
Expenses related to short-term leases CHERTE BRI 450 S
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets EEGHAEEEZIWA 294 294
Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRSMH4E%E 769 909
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15.

120

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The Group leases an office premises for its daily operations. Lease
term is 3 years with an option to extend 1.5 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group performed an
impairment assessment on right-of-use assets in accordance
with HKAS 36. Based on the assessment, an impairment loss of
HK$852,000 was recognised and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 March 2020. The impairment loss was made against
the right-of-use assets in respect of the Group’s office premises
of which cash flow forecast has been revised downward based
on management’s assessment. The recoverable amount of the
right-of-use assets was determined by the estimated cash flows
generated from subleasing of the office premises.

Restrictions or covenants

The lease imposes a restriction that, unless the approval is obtained
from the lessor, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the
underlying assets.

Extension options

The lease contract of office premises contains an extension option.
The extension option aims to provide flexibility to the Group in
managing the leased assets. The extension option of the leases of
office premises is normally exercised because there are significant
leasehold improvements.
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

16. RS AT ZEm

2021 2020

B TETEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

Unlisted investments: share of net assets RAETRE DMEHEEFE 4,736 7,847

Details of the associates at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Principal place
of business and
place of incorporation

TEER M R

Name of associate

EA-YNGERT

Registered capital

EIEE

sERRAERMAREZZE D

PRERSHARBEQT ZFBUNT -

Proportion of
effective ownership
interest held by the Group Principal activities

TEEH
2021

-8

2020
BB

— ==

Kin On Engineering HK$16,000,000

(International) Limited

Hong Kong

BEZT1E @R BRAR 16,000,000 7T

>

Regatta Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000

Regatta Asia Limited s 5,000,000 7%
The above associates are accounted for using the equity method in

the consolidated financial statements.

49% 49 % Interior design, renovation
and building work and
such other work related
to implementation of
architecture and structural
engineering consultancy
services

ENR IREFIR
DY-Eteeydid- AR
ARH 2 EifA AN
HEmTiR

50%  Development of Architectural
related [T applications and
systems

HERFERANTRARRR

UEMERBERRE
&YBR

AR EEGMBR
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16.

122

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Significant judgements and assumptions

The Company and the other shareholder each hold 50% issued
shares of Regatta Asia Limited respectively. The other shareholder
is elected to be chairman of its Board of Directors with the power
to make the final decision of the business if there is inconsistency.
The Company does not have the power either absolutely control
or jointly control Regatta Asia Limited. The Company exercises
significant influence by the representative to the Board of Directors
or equivalent governing body of Regatta Asia Limited.

Relationship with associates

Kin On Engineering (International) Limited, a subcontractor for
interior design, renovation and building work, is expected to provide
the Group the architecture and structural engineering consultancy
services in the future.

Financial information of individually material
associate

Summarised financial information of the material associate of the
Group is set out below, which represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs and adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes
including any differences in accounting policies and fair value
adjustments.
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

16. MEEQAT 2 ()

Financial information of individually material EREXKE AT ZHEER (@)

associate (Continued)

Kin On
Engineering
(International)
Limited
BeIE
(B
BRAE
HK$’000
FET
At 31 March 2021 W2 —HF=H=+—H
Gross amount 4z
Non-current assets EMBIE E 9,700
Current assets MENEE 134
Current liabilities mEBE (170)
Equity e m 9,664
Reconciliation HER
Gross amount of equity AR %R 9,664
Group’s ownership interests KEBZHBE#EEDR 49%
Group’s share of equity and carrying amount of interest ~ SREBRAEB 2 EE R EDREE 4,736
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16. NEE AT 2R (B
Financial information of individually material EREKXKE AT ZHEER (@)

associate (Continued)

Kin On
Engineering
(International)
Limited
BLTE
(B
BRAE
HK$’000
FET

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE_T-—F=-A=1+—HLEHFE

Gross amount 4z

Revenue g -
Loss from operations KERE (4,001)
Other comprehensive income HhzmEmKkA =
Total comprehensive loss PHEEBALEE (4,001)
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

16. MEEQAT 2 ()

Financial information of individually material EREXKE AT ZHEER (@)

associate (Continued)

Kin On
Engineering
(International)
Limited
BeIE
(B
BRAE
HK$’000
FET
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EFE=H=+—H
Gross amount 4z
Non-current assets EMBIE E 9,700
Current assets MENEE 4,125
Current liabilities mEEE (160)
Equity e m 13,665
Reconciliation HER
Gross amount of equity AR %R 13,665
Group’s ownership interests KEBZHBE#EEDR 49%
Group’s share of equity and carrying amount of interest ~ SREBRAEB 2 EE R EDREE 6,696
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16. NEE AT 2R (B
Financial information of individually material EREKXKE AT ZHEER (@)

associate (Continued)

Kin On
Engineering
(International)
Limited
BLTE
(B
BRAE
HK$’000
FET

Year ended 31 March 2020 BE_T-EF=-A=1+—HLEHFE

Gross amount 4z

Revenue W 7,879
Loss from operations KERE (2,317)
Other comprehensive income HhzmEmKkA =
Total comprehensive loss PHEEBALEE (2,317)
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16. REFEAT Z D (B)
Financial information of individually immaterial BENFREREE QT ZHBER
associate
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of the TRERAEEDEMBER 2K
amounts of all individually immaterial associates that are accounted EATNMRRE MAMTEILRBERE
for using the equity method. ABRe
2021 2020
B —F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#ET FAET
At 31 March: W=A=+—8:
Carrying amounts of interests a7 IREE = 1,151
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=1+—HLEE:
Loss for the year FREE (983) (1,349)
Other comprehensive income Hh2mEmUBA = =
Total comprehensive loss S HEEIEAEEE (983) (1,349
On 23 October 2020, the Group disposed of its 50% equity RIEZEF+B+=H A"EEHE
interests of an associate, Regatta Asia Limited, at a cash — [ & /A E]Regatta Asia Limited 50%0&
consideration of HK$500,000. 1 5 IRE R 1EA500,0008 7T ©
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. B REMERIE

2021 2020
—E_—F —ETEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FHET FET

Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Trade receivables from third parties B=H 2B EINEIE 3,756 4,650
Contract assets BHREE 1,714 4,006
Less: Loss allowance B EEEE (1,714) (2,003)
- 2,003
17(a) 3,756 6,653

Other receivables HhpE W RIE
Deposits and prepayments e S =N 386 3,120
Due from an associate FE W B = A B 17(b) 160 160
Due from ultimate holding company FEW R AR ER A E] 17(b) 12 12
558 3,292
4,314 9,945
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(@) Trade receivables and contract assets
Trade receivables

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis
of trade receivables based on invoice date and net of loss

17. BEREMBURIE (&)
(@) BEREURERENEE
B 5 IR
BERSHF RYZEMHAR
1 0% 5 4R 8 6 10 B2 5 PR MR TR AR U9

allowance, is as follows: AW
2021 2020
B —F ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
1-30 days 1E30K 1,132 2,257
31-60 days 31E60K 380 704
61-90 days 61ZE90K 315 335
91-180 days 91E 180K 731 480
Over 180 days BiB180K 1,198 874
3,756 4,650

The Group does not allow any credit period to its customers.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and
loss allowance for trade receivables is included in note 28.

FEBRTRODEEZRREMEMAER
Hio

EcEREREERRRESE

WRIRZ B 1R B f Z B R R B A
280
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AT R MY EE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a) Trade receivables and contract assets

130

(b)

(Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
Contract assets

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract
assets from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

17. BHREMEWKRIE (&)

@) BEZRBRERSHEE (@

8 2 ETRIE ()
BHEE

ERFAEBMBREEE55%
MEFEHNANEENEE (R
154 FAE Py I R 2B 2 O 2D

during the year are as follows: W
2021 2020
B —F “EBCEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
At the beginning of the year REH 2,003 4,073
Loss allowance EEiaEE (1,714) (2,003)
Transferred to trade receivables BE B ERIKARIA (289) 67)
At the end of the reporting period REREIAR - 2,003
Due from an associate/ultimate holding b) FEWEFEAT, REZERAT
company IE
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no AR EARIEF 2EEEERE
fixed repayment term. B

During the year, the greatest outstanding balance of amount
due from the ultimate holding company of which directors,
Poon Kai Kit Joe and Chan Ka Yee, own equity interest was
HK$12,000 (2020: HK$12,000).
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Year ended 31 March 2021 &%

18.

AT R MY EE

FE A=A —HIEFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES

At 31 March 2019, loan receivables of HK$4.09 million represented
loan advanced to an independent third party by a former indirectly
owned subsidiary, Jin Hao (Shenzhen) Holdings Limited (“Jin Hao”).
The loan was unsecured, interest-bearing at 5% per annum and for
the period from 27 March 2019 to 26 September 2019. However,
the amount has not been repaid.

During April to May 2019, another indirectly owned subsidiary,
Golden Legend Capital Limited (“Golden Legend”) and Jin Hao
advanced HK$0.9 million, HK$3.5 million and HK$1.67 million to
certain individuals, certain companies and a company connected
with certain ex-directors of the Company respectively. Both
Golden Legend and Jin Hao are inactive and were managed
by certain ex-directors of the Company. The then management
was unable to reach those ex-directors to obtain the supporting
documents of those loan receivables of approximately HK$10.16
million, in aggregate, and contact details of those debtors. The
loan receivables had not been settled and no required information
and supporting documents were available to allow the then
management to chase the debtors for the loan receivables. The
then management considered that the repayment of those loan
receivables of HK$10.16 million, in aggregate, was remote and the
Group therefore wrote off the loan receivables for the year ended 31
March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has issued
loans to Full Rich Human Resources Limited and Goldman
Holdings Limited of the amount HK$2,500,000 and HK$1,000,000,
respectively. These loans receivables had been written off during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

On 2 June 2021, the Company has entered into a settlement
agreement with two of the above mentioned companies for an
amount of HK$1,250,000 repayable by ten instaiments starting
from 2 June 2021. Therefore, a reversal on the written off loan
receivable of amount HK$1,250,000 has been done for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

18.

R E TR
RZE—AE=A=+—H EKRE™
4,090,000/8 Tie % (RYI) ERBERA
B (&%) —HeaMEEENRBAR)
@ﬁ% LBUB=FNER -ZERD
HRERBE-_Z2—HE=B_-_+tRHE_=
—NhEABZ+/NBLLERE AEKIRE
WERES%EH B o AT BARIRIE N R E
;ﬁo

A CE-NENBERRE 2EBLA
RAA (£ B—HHEEENKE
’&7)&%% TAAETFEABETAE
E—HERRBETAESERENA
T F900,000% 7T ~ 3,500,000 7T &
1,670,000t & hEEHIIFETRER
BIERHARBETREEEE BERERE
BEGHEFIEFIEHE  tMmIEZE
FEUN E & $£4910,160,00058 TR 1T X
HURZEEBEANBKES X - BIRER
ARG ERELINEAEERN RZFEX
HREFREREHEABKERERER
ERNEEERA BEZSRNERGH
10,160,000 7o B # & M F H#4 > F 1t
NEBRBEE-_ZT-_EH£=F=+—H
IFFEMHEBREENER -

BE_ZZFE=-A=+—HILEE>
AABEBERANERBRABTU
REEERERABDZLESEDNS
2,500,0007 7t Kz 1,000,000 TTHI E X ©
ZERRERENBE_ZS_TFE=H
=+—HILEEME-

A _E_—FERNBH AXATEH L
R A B 541,250,000 TTAY £ 8857 3L
M@eHzZ B _E_—F B _HEN
THEEZE-FAIL - RBEE_E-_—F=8

=t+—HIEFEEEHELDIMENEKER
1,250,000 #B 7T
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. B REMEMRIE

2021 2020
—E_—F —EIEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FHET FET

Trade payables B S ESRE
Trade payables — third parties BERMMIBE-—%5=5 19(a) - 950
Contract liabilities anas 19(b) 276 430
276 1,380

Other payables HhpETRIE
Accrued charges and other creditors FESHE B M E A FE(I RIE 795 2,015
Interest payables NEIS) 225 380
1,206 3,775

(@) Trade payables

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade payables based on invoice date, is as follows:

@ EBEREMHE

BERSHR REZHHFED
BERBAREREDTNT

2021 2020

B8 —ETE2F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FET

1-30 days 1E30K - 950
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19. B 5 REMENIRIE (8)

(b) Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

(b) BHEME
AT EM RS LA E15%
MEE MR EHEENED (FE
5 BV PO R B A B B))

during the year are as follows: LN N
2021 2020
—E-—F ECEE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FAET
At the beginning of the year RER] 430 100
Recognition of revenue W SR (430) (100)
Receipt of advances EIFEENEA 276 430
At the end of the reporting period PSR 276 430

At 31 March 2021, the contract liabilities are expected to be
recognised as revenue within 1 year.

20. OTHER BORROWINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group received an
advance of HK$5.5 million (“Alleged Debt”). The proceeds of
the Group’s Alleged Debt was received through a subsidiary of
the Company, namely Golden Legend Capital Limited. The then
management had been unable to reach certain former directors of
the Company who were also the directors (‘Former Directors”) of
the subsidiary, to obtain the loan agreements and representations in
relation to the Alleged Debt.

On 20 July 2020, a statutory demand served on the Company by a
purported creditor to demand the Company to pay for the Alleged
Debt with accrued interest in an aggregate amount of approximately
HK$5.8 million within 3 weeks after service of the statutory
demand. If no payment was made by the expiry of the 3-week
period, the creditor might present a winding-up petition against the
Company. On 23 September 2020, the Company received a writ of
summons issued in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of
Hong Kong by the same purported creditor. Pursuant to the writ,
the plaintiff claims against the Company for the Alleged Debt with
accrued interest.

KRB —F=ZR=+—H'54
BEEAR —FNER AW -

0. HhfErx

NEBE_E_EFE=A=+—HLEE"
AEE B WEE 5,500,000 7T (M58
B - AEBIEBERMENELEBR
KRB —RBNBARSEELRERAT
WE - EREEEBELIEETINAZNEB
NABEENAQBRES (MBIEE) S
ME  MESERHERERIEEED
RIESE o

ATECTZECA+H EBBEEA
BAABEH—MEAEEREBESE  E
RERBIRACEEREBEXER=E
EPRRNTNIEREEERETFESH
5,800,000 7T ° {8 7 = 18 £ HA HA bR = #8
AIREHAR ZEEAXNTHARQFIR
EEBREF - N_ZE_TFEALB=1+H"
AREIZER—BREEAZHNER
B EERRNEEBENEA R  RIK
BHRSK BEERARABLZNIEBER
EREFFE
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20.

21.

22,

134

OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

On the other hand, since the current management has been unable
to reach the Former Directors, on 31 July 2020 the Company
issued and filed the writ of summons, together with the statement
of claim dated 30 July 2020, against the Former Directors for
breach of the directors’ duties in the High Court of Hong Kong.
Application was made to the said court to serve the writ out of
jurisdiction on the Former Directors in the People Republic of China.
The process of serving writs against certain former directors will
take months as this will involve the corresponding court(s) in China.
There is no update as at the date of this report.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 January 2020, 31 July 2020, 31 August 2020 and 8
October 2020.

TERM LOAN

The Company entered into unsecured loan agreements with on-
demand loan facility which are unsecured, interest-bearing at 12%
per annum and repayable within 12 months.

20.

21.

HnE (@

B—AE ARBEREBEHEAHENE
ENSEBME MR 2T E+tA=+—
B ARBEREESSEMENRESH
EEMEEREUEFEESEALSK EFH
AT _TELA=1+HNBRREL
ZoARNTEH LA AR BED L EEE
BIIMEZ S RBEMRPREARLENR
MBIES - B RPEERE AR &
CREEETHESNEFHEREA -
RARS HEEER

HEFE2EARARBRAZS S S —
BZ_+WmNE-—&E_FEF+t/A=+—H"
TECEFENRB=ZFT—HRERIEZEF
+BENBzZzR G-

EHIE ™
AANBETUEHERRENEIRFE
FHmE ERERABREKE BEMNE
12%st E R BN+ BB REE-

BOND PAYABLE 22, EfIMEH
2021 2020
—E-—F C"T-TE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFET
Unsecured bond carried at fixed coupon rate of 1% B & 2 F F FE8%5t 21
8% per annum BIERES - 5,000

The Group entered into a subscription agreement with an
independent third party (the “Subscriber”), issued a 8% coupon
unlisted bond on 30 August 2018 with the principal amount of
HK$5,000,000. The amount fully repaid during the year.
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HE&E
2021 2020
—EZ—F TETEE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FAET
Lease liabilities HeEasE
Current portion BRERER1AD 208 715
Non-current portion JERPERER(H - 616
At end of the reporting period REREHAR 208 1,331
24. DEFERRED TAXATION 24. RERIEA
The movement for the year in the Group’s net deferred tax position REEBRAFEZIRIERIBFENED
was as follows: W
2021 2020
T —F ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FAET FET
At beginning of year REH] = (26)
Credit to profit or loss A= - 26
At end of the reporting period REREHAR - =
Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from UMTEEMEEXEZ ARRDELERIESR
=3
2021 2020
B —F TEIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Before multiplied by the applicable tax rates: FEANRE A -
Deductible temporary differences ANGEETER 890 1,557
Tax losses HIEEE 18,878 14,685
At end of the reporting period REREHAR 19,768 16,242

Neither the tax losses nor the deductible temporary differences
expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these items because the future
taxable profit is unpredictable.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE

25. feAsKefdth

(a) Share capital (@ B
2021 2020
—E—-& “Z2IEHF
No. of shares No. of shares
’000 HK$'000 '000 HK$'000
D& B R E]
T FET T FET
Authorised: EE .
Ordinary shares of SREEOIBTZ
HK$0.01 each EiEhk 2,000,000 20,000 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITREARE
At beginning and at end of PRSI RERR
the reporting period 418,000 4,180 418,000 4,180
(b) Reserves

i) Share premium

b) f#E
) R

Under the Cayman Companies Law, the share RE#HSARE RO RER
premium account is distributable to the shareholders AREFARABRKRE ERE
of the Company provided that immediately following PEIEEZEREEDEEZHE &
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be NEIBREAR—RERS
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay RBARERINAREEER

off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVE (Continued)
(b) Reserves (Continued)

iii)

i)

Other reserve

Other reserve represented the sum of (i) the difference
between the issued share capital of K&K Chartered
Architect & Associates Limited (which were transferred
to Energetic Tree Limited (“Energetic Tree”) pursuant
to the group reorganisation to rationalise the structure
of the Group in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Group Reorganisation”)) and
the newly issued share capital of Energetic Tree to
Energetic Way Limited (“Energetic Way”); and (i) the
difference between the issued share capital and share
premium of Energetic Tree and the newly issued share
capital of the Company to Energetic Way and Alpha
Advantage International Limited as a result of the share
swap pursuant to the Group Reorganisation.

Distributable reserves

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the Cayman Companies Law, amounted to
approximately Nil (2020: HK$nil).

25. AR G#E (&)
(b) f#fE @&

i) HhfEE
HMEEE)EEEERRM
BRABIZEZEITRE (IR
BABEEARBDRONRER
BMeEXZMEMRREGEM
Mm@ EERERTE
TzEBRSEH (TEREH)
# Y Energetic Tree Limited
(FTEnergetic Tree 1)) £
Energetic TreeMEnergetic
Way Limited (T Energetic Way
DWMBTZREAZENE
%8 ; K (ii)EnergeticTreet &
TRAREOGREURE
REIARBEEBRTHANR
2 F= B B Energetic Way &
Alpha Advantage International
Limited®7 317 2 B 4 2 AV
ERBZ AR o

i) AR ECHEE
TR -F=ZR=+—8>
REFBEFAESEQABEAEZAR
SRS RFEENRE (T8
“EFIBHET) e
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26. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 26. HthIREREER
(@) Cash used in operations (@) ZEEFARE
2021 2020
B8 —EIEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET AT
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (13,158) (34,310)
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERRBITE
plant and equipment 284 656
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 392 781
Impairment loss on property, ME- -BEARERESRE
plant and equipment - 227
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets RS E B EE1E - 852
Loss allowance on contract assets BHREEGEEE 1,714 2,003
Gain on disposal of an associate HEBE AR ZWm (332) =
Gain on disposal of property, HEME BEREZE 2 WE
plant and equipment (234) -
Provision for doubtful debts REREEE 706 -
Lease modification HEE:] (397) =
Interest expenses FMERZ 967 673
Share of results of associates = YNCIEF 2,943 2,484
(Reversal of)/write off of loan receivables ~ FEWE Rk ([o]) sy (1,250) 10,159
Changes in working capital: EESTEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EMEWRTIE 3,211 (1,092)
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE (2,704) 2,743
Cash used in operations EEMARE (7,858) (14,824)
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26. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

Details of the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing

26. HWREREEH (@)

b) RMEEIBEENERED

AEERELIHEENERETF

activities are as follows: 1BAF -
Lease Bond Term Other
2021 liabilities payable loan  borrowings Total
ZEZ—F HEaE FEfHES EHER HAth &3 kL]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAET FET FET
At beginning of the year R4 1,331 5,000 5,350 5,500 17,181
Interest expenses FERX 43 166 758 - 967
Accrued in interest payable FE1TFEETF] & - - (225) - (225)
Lease modification GESL ) (397) - - - (397)
Net cash flows REREBE (769) (5,166) 2,351 = (3,584)
At end of the year RER 208 - 8,234 5,500 13,942
Lease Bond Term Other
2020 liabilities payable loan borrowings Total
TR HEBE B ES TEHER HMER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET FHET FHExT FHET
At beginning of the year T 4E#]] - 5,000 - 4,092 9,092
Date of initial application ~ EREREBHERS
- HKFRS 16 ZBRIFE165E H 2,147 - - - 2,147
Interest expenses MBEx 93 420 160 = 673
Accrued in interest payable FE{tFEETF] S = (220) (160) = (380)
Net cash flows REREFE (909) (200) 5,350 1,408 5,649
At end of the year REXR 1,331 5,000 5,350 5,500 17,181
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27. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 27. EXAMAERS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in BRIFEHBERREMBOMKEZRS
the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the FEeRIN  REBPE—REHBEFRE]
following material related party transactions in the ordinary course UM TERBEBERZS -

of the Group’s business.

(a) Related party transactions (a) BAEEARS
Related party relationship Nature of transaction 2021 2020
R B 75 R 1R XHLE ZEZ—F —EBIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
A company controlled by the family Subcontracting charges (573) (795)
member of the Company’s director nEER
BAANTEEMNREMEZESZAT  Consultancy fee received 427 425
Y ER RE S B
Rental income 24 24
HEWA
A company managed by the shareholder Consultancy fee received 30 300
of the ultimate holding company INEREER &
HRAZERABRKREEEZ AT Rental income = 2
GER=TLON
- =t =
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) FEERASHMN
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, FEETBEEABNHM 285
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and PR &M B RRME10FT KB R A
certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10 AR ESAXONEEREE TR
to the consolidated financial statements, is as follows: EHMNEE I T
2021 2020
—B—H EBIEH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T
Short-term employee benefits HR EE BT 8,900 10,759
Post-employment benefits BEEEEN 507 943
9,407 11,702
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. Mf#5E[EIEEERER

AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of directors generally
adopts conservative strategies on its risk management and limits
the Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum. The Board of
Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below:

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
(if any), to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on the earliest
date on which the Group is required to settle, is summarised below:

AEETRTEEENTIZABRARS
BExREBRkEERR EFE —REMRF
THEREERRE L AREBRPTERN
ZERBEERM -EFEFBLREE
BEEZT AR R AR

MENE = E R
FEENERATESREEREET
ZHEBREFTEH AEBZBRBERESR
MBEEBRRAEERZE WH) NER
B UERAEBELTIEZESRBEE
FrEREHEBRTENEAEETRE
MR RN RBES TR

rERFTEESRMEBERTEERER
RREPRENETERBEGEZREH
HMER TARIRS AT MBS T ¢

Non-derivative financial liabilities JEFTEEREE
Over 1 year
Within 1 year/ but within
On demand 2 years Total
—FR/ —FUE
HER MEURA #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
At 31 March 2021 AZEZ—F
=A=+—H
Trade payables B EARIE - = =
Lease liabilities HEARE 210 - 210
Accrued charges and other creditors BT ERREM
FEATRRIE 795 - 795
Term loan TEHER 8,234 - 8,234
Other borrowings HERR 5,500 - 5,500
Interest payables FEHIE 225 - 225
14,964 - 14,964
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

142

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

28. MHBEMEZEBRKRER (&)

mBEEERRE (8

Non-derivative financial liabilities FFTEEMARE
Over 1 year
Within 1 year/ but within
On demand 2 years Total
—FR/ —FEE
BER MELLA “ast
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET
At 31 March 2020 ==
=B=+—H
Trade payables B S5 EMRIE 950 - 950
Lease liabilities HEaE 768 629 1,397
Accrued charges and other creditors FESTE R A EAth
N/ 2,015 - 2,015
Term loan EHE™R 5,511 - 5,511
Other borrowings HhfEmr 5,500 - 5,500
Bond payable FEfTESS 5,201 - 5,201
Interest payables e F] 8 380 - 380
20,325 629 20,954
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. H1#EIEEEEREER (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables and bank
balances recognised on the consolidated statement of financial
position, which is net of impairment losses, represents the Group’s
exposure to credit risk without taking into account the value of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the industry
or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a concentration
of credit risk as 14% (2020: 23%) and 42% (2020: 50%) of the total
trade receivables were due from its largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment. The expected loss rate used in the
provision matrix is calculated for each category based on actual
credit loss experience over the past years and adjusted for
current and forward-looking factors to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over which the historical
data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s
estimate on future economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year.

2020/2021 %k PEFIREREZERARAT

EERE
FEVBERRRTERINE S KHEME
WRRIE LU SRIT A BR RO BREE (FOFRIRE
E18) IEAREEEEAEE R i &
SRR ER BRI EMEEER
BEE-

BERRBREREGHNEE
SEERERERBERDEIBHNAEE
EpER TR EEEARR  FIL A&
EEENEERRDEIBZEZEERMIE
EREERETEHNBRRNENFHY
@O

REREHAR > REBERE 5 EWFIEEEE
Z2EERREFRENFAZ14% (ZEEZE
F:108%) K42% (ZEZFFE 1 50%) A
FBRMBKERATERAKRTR

AERRBBER A EEZBIRRIA
REHNEENBRMEEER LN SER
SEREBEEZHAMEEBERIDGER
B LRBHEBEEEGRERETERF
FEE > M FLR TS A R AL IR 1R 15 E RO A B
HEFHAE - BHEERT ARG
BEDLRBBELFENEREEBER
BAEHEERS LB ER RATHENE
HERETTHEE > URBREEBEEIED
BIREER T BRI R U R A EBEE
W R IE TR B PR B SR ZRASE R R 2 1
BN ER AEENMFARMTREKR
R ARELELS -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. BMi#EEEEIEBIZEREE (@)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERM (&
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) BRERWHRIERENEE (B
Trade receivables B SR IE
As at 31 March 2021 WZE-—f=H=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TRHRESIEE AR ESiR1RE =ERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
1-30 days past due HIHA1ZE30H - 1,132 - No £
31-60 days past due HHAS1Z60H - 380 - No £
61-90 days past due #EA61ZE90H - 315 - No #&
91-180 days past due #HEA1ZE180H - 713 - No &
Over 180 days past due HEA180R MUk - 1,198 - No %
3,756 -
As at 31 March 2020 A CETEEZRH=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TAHARsIEX MBEREE EiaEE EERE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
1-30 days past due HHEA1ZE30H - 2,257 = No #
31-60 days past due HHA31E60H - 704 - No #&
61-90 days past due w61 290H - 335 - No £
91-180 days past due FIEA91 E180H - 480 = No £
Over 180 days past due FHEA180H L £ = 874 = No £
4,650 =
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Contract assets

As at 31 March 2021

28. M EMREEBFRRECR (&)
EEER (&)
B2 ESRERSNEE (@)
BHEE

RZE-_—%=ZH=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
FEEAEE BEREE BEEE SERE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FTET
Outstanding over 180 days 180K A H AR EE 100% 1,714 1,714 No &

As at 31 March 2020

RIE_EEFE=ZF=+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
TRk B BIRE(E iggisbcdic EERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FATT
Outstanding over 180 days 180K A A EE 50% 4,006 2,003 No &

Except as indicated above, the loss allowance for trade receivables
and contract assets as a result of applying the ECL model was
insignificant and the Group has not recognised any loss allowance
for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

PRI EFTRE SN REBRMEEEERRE
AMELENESBERBERGHNEERN
BRBEHLANBER WAL R HEDE
E_E_—ERIZZEF=A=1+—
HiEFENERBIEREE-
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28.

146

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Amounts due from an associate and ultimate holding
company

The Group considers that the amounts due from an associate
and ultimate holding company have low credit risk based on
the borrowers’ strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and low risk of default. Impairment
on amounts due from these related companies is measured on
12-month ECL and reflects the short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account the
historical actual credit loss experience and the financial position
of the counterparties by reference to, among others, their
management or audited accounts, adjusted for forward-looking
factors that are specific to the debtors and general economic
conditions of the industry in which the counterparties operate, in
estimating the probability of default of these financial assets, as
well as the loss upon default in each case. The management of the
Group considers the ECL of these financial assets to be insignificant
after taking into account the financial position and credit quality of
the counterparties.

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is low because the counterparties
are high credit rating.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year.

Fair values

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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BzMENEERBRRE ZFMHAT
FEWCRRIER R E L1218 B R E & 1R
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29.

30.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
returns for shareholders. The Group manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments according to changes in economic
conditions, including payment of dividend to shareholders, return
of capital to shareholders or issue of new shares or sale of assets
to reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
and procedures during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

29.

30.

BAER
AEREAEENEERRERERE
BREKENEN RARFEHOR 4
EEERHEAEBIRECE RN
BHFLRE GRAREINRE A
RRZMERBRFAETHROIEE
EERBREDT BR BERKEFREBE
2 FRIZZZEF=ZA=+—H
L A ERAF AR (T 8 o

TABMBRAR

BEEBABEINKRERE xR 3/

Companies Ordinance, the statement of financial position of the B REFEEEBUWT -
Company and the movements in its reserves are set out below:
2021 2020
BRI TIERHE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FAET FAET
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKE - S
Investment in associate REE AR ZRE 4,736 6,969
4,736 6,969
Current assets REMEE
Deposits and prepayments BERIEAR 1,313 1,693
Amount due from subsidiaries FEWHS B A B FUE 6,097 12,734
Amount due from an associate FEW B A B FUE = 160
Bank balances and cash RITHEGRRIRE 11 1,253
7,421 15,840
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

30. ZARMBRRE (@)

2021 2020
—E—F ZEIEE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FHET FET
Current liabilities REBE

Other payables HinpES A 900 1,792
Term loan TEEM 8,234 5,350
Other borrowings HhEm® 5,500 5,500
Bond payable Ef1ES - 5,000
14,634 17,642
Net (liabilities) assets (BR) BEFE (7,213) (1,802)
Total assets less current liabilites 4B ERAHEE (2,477) 4,894
Net (liabilities) assets (B1R) BEFE (2,477) 4,894

Capital and reserves B K HE
Issued capital BEITRA 4,180 4,180
Reserves Eaic] 30(a) (6,657) 714
Total equity L] (2,477) 4,894

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2021 and signed on its
behalf by

Director
BE
Chung Yuk Lun
EE
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30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 30. Z~ARMERAT &)
COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Movements of the reserves (@) fABEED
Share Accumulated Total
premium (losses) reserve
B 17 HE Kzt (5518) EELLEE
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAET FET
At 1 April 2019 RZZ2—hFHmBA—H 33,785 (15,635) 18,150
Loss and total comprehensive loss AEEEIEKRE2E
for the year E51R4R%R - (17,436) (17,436)
At 31 March 2020 NI Z4HF
=A=+—H 33,785 (33,071) 714
At 1 April 2020 R_ZEZZTFMOA—H 33,785 (33,071) 714
Loss and total comprehensive loss AEEEE &R EH
for the year E51R4R%R - (7,371) (7,371)
At 31 March 2021 RIEZ—%
=BA=+—H 33,785 (40,442) (6,657)
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31. SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2021 are as
follows:

31.

Mt A E]
AABR _E-_—F=B=+—HMWK
BATEBUOT

Proportion of ownership interest

RaEEAREE L
Particular of
issued and
paid-up
capital/ Group’s
Place and date Place of registered effective Held by Held by
Name of the company of incorporation operation capital interest the Company a subsidiary Principal activities
BINEYR
Bf/HMES TEER ERAH HEAE
GRS EEEi=E e HMERER BRER S2-PA 4 FRZEE TEEH
Energetic Tree Limited British Virgin Islands  note () US$100 100% 100% S Investment holding
HESBREE B ZE() 100%7T RELER
Lucky Unicorn Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  note () HKS1 100% 100% S Investment holding
HESBREE Biask() 1587 RELER
Golden Legend Consortium Limited  British Virgin Islands  note (i) US$1,000 100% 100% S Investment holding
HESBREE Biask() 1,000%7% RE R
K & K Chartered Architect & Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$2 100% S 100% Provision of
Associates Limited comprehensive
architectural and
structural engineering
consultancy services
BREEERARAT B Y 28T REENERNEE
TREHRS
Global Crown Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100% Provision of
comprehensive
architectural and
structural engineering
consultancy services
Bl £ 1587 100%H2 i 2 E AR 5N
BEIRBARE
Golden Legend Capital Limited Hong Kong Note () HK$10,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EEEFERAT &% B 5E0) 10,0008 7T REER
Notes: 5T
i) These companies are investment holding companies which have no i) ZENTHAREBER AT WEMREN

specific principal place of operation.

150 KNK Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020/2021

FTEEEME



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

Year ended 31 March 2021 &% —&F _—#=H=1—HIFFZ

32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 32, IREHABREFE

Since January 2020, the outbreak of COVID-19 has certain
impacts on the business operation and overall economy on the
global business environment. To a certain extent, the outbreak will
impact the comprehensive architectural and structural engineering
consultancy services business of the Group.

Despite the challenges, governments and international
organisations have implemented a series of measures to contain
the epidemic. The Group stays alert to the development and
situation of the COVID-19, continue to assess its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group, and take
necessary action to maintain stability of the businesses. Up to the
date of this annual report, the assessment of financial impact on
COVID-19 is still in progress.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has issued
loans to Full Rich Human Resources Limited and Goldman
Holdings Limited of the amount HK$2,500,000 and HK$1,000,000,
respectively. These loans receivables had been written off during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

On 2 June 2021, the Company has entered into a settlement
agreement with two of the above mentioned companies for an
amount of HK$1,250,000 repayable by ten instaiments starting
from 2 June 2021. Therefore, a reversal on the written off loan
receivable of amount HK$1,250,000 has been done for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

2020/2021 %k PEFIREREZERARAT

B_Z-Z&FE—H LI COVID-19% 15 %
PREFBREBETINERSERERECE
EBEET—ERE-BEET—TEREL#Y
BEAREENZEEREREBIRBEMR

EEEERY B S BB B Bl PR AR 4 3R X
T—RIEHRBHIE —ERR o AER
B ZIRECOVID- 19 B B R 1B 1518
FHEHAEERBER T R EEEEN
FE IR BENERETERNIEE
o B E AR HE > HCOVID-198984 75
AN EEE TR

BE_S_ZF=ZR=+—HIEE>
AABTIEBEBANERER AT
REE2ZEREBRATDELESENIA
2,500,000 75 & 1,000,000 T HI & FX
ZEEWERENBE_S _TEFE=A
=t+—BIEEEMH-

A ZE T —FRBZH AREBEHL
R A B 541,250,000 T Y £ 8857 3L
M@z B2 _—FxB_HEN
THEEZE-FAIL - RBEE_E-_—F=8
=t+—HIEFESELCIMHENERER
1,250,000 75 ©
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R Ta 2

RESULTS E4 |
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2+t Z-\§& CEZ-NE CBIZF E_-f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT FET THET TERT
REVENUE W 33,178 40,016 45,848 29,779 41,246
Cost of services rendered PR EARFS A A (12,524) (22,523) (40,664) (35,501) (37,977)
Other income HtgA - 341 376 344 2,610
General and administrative expenses —BROBEY (5,295) (7,590) (10,500) (13,572) (14,663)
Listing expenses iiiliba (5,226) = = = -
Profit/{oss) from operations TEmEEN/ (BB 10,133 10,244 (4,940) (18,950) (8,784)
Finance cost MERE - - (199) (673) (967)
Share of results of an associate ELBEAEE - - 9 (2,484) (2,943)
Write-off of loan receivables HIBERER - - - (10,159) 1,250
Loss allowance on contract assets BHBERBRE = S = (2,003) (1,714)
Loss on derecognition of subsidiaries RIEEINBARZ
B - - - #1) -
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION bRigAER] (B8 10,133 10,244 (5,148) (34,310) (13,158)
Income tax expenses it=sinhd 2,732 (2,216) ! (24) 17
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, FREATRENEGEF/

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF (5%

THE COMPANY 7,401 8,028 (5,155) (34,334) (13,141)
Other comprehensive income for the year FRHEMZERE - - - - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) ERFNDHENEGEE

FOR THE YEAR, ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE Uit/ (5518) %8

COMPANY 7,401 8,028 (5,159) (34,334) (13,141)
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE gk (BB /BH
Basic and diluted BAREE 230cents il 1.92centsfll  (1.23)centsfll  (8.21) cents fll  (3.14) cents fl
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEKEA

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

2t CB-N\f B-hE EBf _"B_-F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT TET FET TET THET

Total assets nEE 57,854 54,810 55,109 32,011 13,197
Total liabilities Baf (2,875) (4,343) (9,797) (21,083) (15,360)
Nt assets/[libilties) BE (Bf) /34 54,979 50,467 45,312 10978 (2,163)
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